Papers of The Roscoe Pound F	oundation
PROTECTING	
실하다. 그 전에 발생하는 것 같아. 사람들은 것 같아 보는 것이 없는데 되었다. 한 경우 그 사람들은 경우 사람들은 사람들은 기술을 통하고 있다. 그 사람들은 사람들은 것이 되었다.	
Individual	
RICHTS:	
The Role of State	
고 마양성 (프로젝트) 회사 전체 전체 (프로프로 프로젝트) 그는 그는 것 같아 하는 것이다. 한 경우 작은 교육 조류를 통해 있다고 있는 것 같아 (프로프로 트로 프로프로 트로	
Constitutionalism	
Report of the 1992	
Forum for State Judges	
Cosponsored by The Roscoe Pound Foundation &	
Yale Law School	
Edited by Barbara Wolfson	

When quoting or reprinting any part of this report, credit should be given to The Roscoe Pound Foundation and Yale Law School.

Permission to reprint a paper should be requested from The Roscoe Pound Foundation.

©1993 The Roscoe Pound Foundation

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOREWORD	1
Preface	3
REPORT OF THE CONFERENCE	
Introduction	7
Themes and Issues	13
■ The Need For a Renewal of State Constitutionalism	
■ The Concept of Floor and Ceiling	16
■ The Role of Unique State Sources in Interpreting State Constitutions	
■ The Reliance on Core Values in Judicial Decisionmaking	
■ Which Constitution, Federal or State, Should be Reviewed First by	
State Court Judges?	22
 How Should State Constitutionalism Operate When the Language of the Federal and 	
State Constitutions are Identical?	23
■ The Role of Attorneys, Scholars and Law Schools in Contributing to State	
Constitutionalism	25
PROCEEDINGS OF THE CONFERENCE	
Interpretation and Authority in State Constitutionalism	31
Professor Paul W. Kahn, Yale Law School	
Response by Justice Denise R. Johnson, Vermont Supreme Court	
Using State Law to Protect Federal Constitutional Rights	45
Professor Akhil Reed Amar, Yale Law School	
■ Response by Justice Lloyd Doggett, Texas Supreme Court	
The Vitality of State Constitutional Traditions: The Judges Reflect	55
The Future of State Constitutionalism: The Closing Plenary	
APPENDIX	
Opinion of Justice Lloyd Doggett in Davenport v. Garcia	67
"State Constitutions and the Protection of Individual Rights"	
by Justice William J. Brennan Jr., reprinted from Harvard Law Review	69
Participants	76
Judicial Attendees	
Forum Underwriters	
The Roscoe Pound Foundation	

		American representation of the second

FOREWORD

At a time when many in our profession perceive a widening gulf between what is studied in the law schools and the work of practicing lawyers and judges, it is heartening that state judges and academic lawyers are coming together, as they did in this forum, to share theoretical knowledge and practical experience in order to enhance the role of state courts in protecting individual rights.

In 1977, Justice William Brennan offered what can serve as the premise and charge for the forum reported in the following pages. "Federalism," he wrote, "need not be a mean-spirited doctrine that serves only to limit the scope of human liberty. Rather, it must necessarily be furthered significantly when state courts thrust themselves into a position of prominence in the struggle to protect the people of our nation from governmental intrusions on their freedoms."

It is in this positive spirit that I welcome the publication and dissemination of the ideas raised and vigorously debated by the forum participants including my colleagues at the Yale Law School, more than 100 appellate judges from forty-three states and the District of Columbia, and Fellows of The Roscoe Pound Foundation who served as moderators for the small discussion groups. Everyone involved in the forum learned from the perspectives represented by these diverse members of the American legal community.

This forum marked the inauguration of a collaborative effort on the part of the Yale Law School and The Roscoe Pound Foundation to continue the dialogue that we hope will illuminate and strengthen the important emerging area of state court jurisprudence.

Guido Calabresi Dean Yale Law School

	•		

PREFACE

The renewed attention to state courts and state constitutions that this forum inaugurates recalls the earliest days of the Republic when individuals looked, not to the federal courts, but to state constitutions and state courts for protection in their relations with state and local governments.

Indeed, the period of ascendancy of federal constitutional guarantees was relatively short, beginning slowly in 1925 and culminating in the 1960s and 1970s. After only half a century, the trend of recent U.S. Supreme Court decisions is, in the eyes of many, forcing attention back to state courts in matters of civil liberties.

In this diversity may be strength. As Justice Louis Brandeis wrote in 1932:

It is one of the happy accidents of the federal system that a single, courageous state may, if its citizens choose, serve as a laboratory; and try novel social and economic experiments without risk to the rest of the country.

It was evident from the deliberations at the forum that many judges, freshly aware of the choices before them, are examining state constitutionalism more seriously than ever before and that their understanding of its potential is evolving rapidly. This report is a collage of ideas in progress, offering snapshots of the thoughts of numerous judges from a variety of states and many points of view on the main points raised in the provocative papers and lively discussions of the forum.

Robert L. Habush
President
The Roscoe Pound Foundation
1990–1992

REPORT

OF THE

CONFERENCE

· · · ·		

INTRODUCTION

Background

In 1977, in a speech and in a landmark article in the *Harvard Law Review*, Justice William Brennan called for a rebirth of state constitutionalism. The drafters of the Bill of Rights, he pointed out, drew upon corresponding provisions in the various state constitutions. Before the adoption of the federal Constitution, each of the rights eventually recognized in the federal Bill of Rights had previously been protected in one or more of the state constitutions or colonial charters. Guarantees of rights thus preceded, and even inspired, the constitutional protections embodied in the Bill of Rights.

Justice Brennan said that the Supreme Court had forgotten that one of the strengths of our federal system is its provision of a double source of protection for the rights of our citizens. At the heart of his call for a reassertion of state constitutionalism was the point that state courts may construe state constitutions as providing even greater, or new, or clarifying protection of rights, more than the federal Constitution does. State constitutions, he said, are also a source of individual liberties, their protections often extending beyond those required by the Supreme Court's interpretation of federal law.

Brennan urged state courts to step into the breach left by what he saw as the high court's lack of commitment to the protection of individual rights. "More and more state courts," he said,

are construing state constitutional counterparts of provisions of the Bill of Rights as guaranteeing citizens of their states even more protection than the federal provisions, even those identically phrased. This is surely an important and highly significant development for our constitutional jurisprudence and for our concept of federalism.

His article was most influential and has been hailed in some quarters as the Magna Charta of state constitutionalism. Together with a number of state jurists, Justice Brennan generated widespread interest in state constitutional law. The movement advocating independent state constitutionalism received the name New Federalism, and attracted the support of a group of eminent state jurists and legal scholars.

The New Federalism

State court judges and academicians active in the movement called for nothing less than a "renaissance" of state constitutional law. By the mid-1980s, according to Professor A. E. Dick Howard:

State constitutions have become the pivot of important decisions in a wide range of substantive areas—criminal justice, privacy, libel, church and state, school finance, gender discrimination, abortion funding, terminal illness, and expression on private property, among others.*

Recent state court decisions based on state constitutions have focused on jury composition, the right to counsel, freedom of speech, search and seizure, privacy and cruel and unusual punishment. These decisions often expanded rights beyond those in the federal Constitution as interpreted by the United States Supreme Court, thus fulfilling Justice Brennan's urging that

state courts cannot rest when they have afforded their citizens the full protections of the federal Constitution. State constitutions, too, are a font of individual liberties, their protections often extending beyond those required by the Supreme Court's interpretation of federal law. The legal revolution which has brought federal law to the fore must not be allowed to inhibit the independent protective force of state law—for without it, the full realization of our liberties cannot be guaranteed.

^{*(}Developments in State Constitutional Law, Bradley D. McGraw, ed. 1985, "A Frequent Recurrence of Fundamental Principles," p. xvi, West Publishing Company.)

As the concept of New Federalism evolved both in theory and practice, it has attracted increasing interest among judges and academicians. In the last few years, judges in states in every region of the country have demonstrated a growing reluctance to rely solely on federal judicial rulings that may restrict individual rights and have founded their decisions on their state constitutions.

Michigan v. Long

The move to enhance state constitutionalism was given impetus by the 1983 decision in the case of *Michigan v. Long* [463 U.S. 1032 (1983)] in which the United States Supreme Court declared that state courts' interpretation of state constitutions are to be accepted as final, as long as the state court plainly states that its decision is based on independent and adequate state grounds. Although ostensibly a restriction on the exercise of state court decisionmaking (a court must indicate "clearly and expressly that it is alternatively based on bona fide, separate, adequate and independent grounds"), *Michigan v. Long* has made state court judges confident that they can use their own constitutions while ensuring that their opinions are protected from federal review.

State Court Responsibility in American History

Some observers, taking the long view, view the contemporary movement toward state constitutionalism as part of a dynamic that has traditionally marked the history of American jurisprudence. Its resurgence can be seen as a shift from the recent hegemony of the federal courts in which the pendulum swings again to the kind of state court involvement that characterized American jurisprudence in the early days of the Republic. During that era, individuals looked to state constitutions and state courts, not the federal courts, for protection of their constitutional rights when these were invaded by state and local government.

The period of ascendancy of federal constitutional guarantees came late in our history, and was relatively short. As Justice Brennan has noted, "Before the Fourteenth Amendment was added to the Constitution, the Supreme Court held that the Bill of Rights did not restrict state, but only federal, action." Even then, "It was 1925 before it was suggested that perhaps the restraints of the First Amendment applied to state action." Decisions of the United States Supreme Court in the 1960s and 1970s were the high-water mark extending some provisions of the Bill to the states, a movement that Justice Brennan hailed as having changed the face of the law.

But the trend of recent U.S. Supreme Court decisions is, in the eyes of many jurists, lawyers and scholars, forcing attention back to state courts in matters of civil liberties and individual rights.

Today, the promise and potential of state constitutionalism offer an avenue for protecting and even expanding rights that many see as circumscribed by recent decisions of the federal courts. Yet there are constraints and limitations on state courts that tend to inhibit state judges from interpreting state constitutions in ways that counter interpretations of the federal Constitution made by the U.S. Supreme Court.

These dual themes were central to the dialogue among the participants at the Pound/Yale Forum for State Judges.

Examining the Issues

More than 100 judges representing state Supreme and Intermediate Appellate courts in forty-three states and the District of Columbia took part in the forum. Senator Howell Heflin (D-Ala.), former Chief Justice of the Alabama Supreme Court, gave the keynote address.

The discussions were organized around two papers written by Paul W. Kahn and Akhil Reed Amar, both professors at Yale Law School. The papers were distributed to participants in advance of the forum, and each author presented his ideas to the audience in an informal talk. Each presentation was followed by a commentary by a state supreme court justice recognized nationally as a proponent of state constitutionalism.

Professor Kahn's paper, "Interpretation and Authority in State Constitutionalism," was discussed by Justice Denise R. Johnson of the Vermont Supreme Court; Justice Lloyd Doggett of the Texas Supreme Court, commented on "Using State Law to Protect Federal Constitutional Rights," presented by Professor Amar.

Following each presentation and commentary, the judges separated into six groups to exchange ideas on the issues raised in each paper. Each group discussion was led by a Fellow of The Roscoe Pound Foundation. At the end of the day, all the participants reassembled for a plenary session, where the moderators outlined the major issues discussed and summarized whatever consensus had been reached.

Under the ground rules of the forum, comments by judges are not for attribution in the published proceedings. The result was candid and free-wheeling discussion among the judges and the other forum participants and a willingness to consider all sides of an issue with no holds barred.

	<u></u>		

IJ

THEMES AND ISSUES

The judges at the forum represented a diversity of views about state constitutionalism and a wide range of practical approaches to interpreting their state constitutions. Some sit on courts that have long been active in basing decisions on state constitutional grounds and do not hesitate to disagree with rulings of the U.S. Supreme Court. Indeed, among the judges present were some of the bench's most prominent advocates of the New Federalism, including those who have written ground-breaking opinions drawing on state constitutional provisions.

Others came from state courts that, according to their account, see little need to question federal decisions and therefore have given little attention or weight to their own state constitutions.

Many judges stood on a middle ground: they were intrigued by the possibilities of state constitutionalism, but had little experience in constitutional interpretation and recognized the difficulties of charting new directions in states which had traditionally bowed to federal court decisionmaking. For many of them, the field represented a terra incognita—one posing dangers as well as opportunities.

It was clear that across the country, state constitutionalism is in a stage of ferment as judges seek to define methods of interpretation that are appropriate to the constitutional traditions of their states as well as to the political and cultural climates of opinion in which they render decisions. They spoke openly about the difficulties of redefining state constitutionalism under the pressure of heavy dockets or fiscal constraints, not to mention political considerations. (Most are elected or appointed for limited terms.)

Judges generally did not believe they had the luxury of building the kind of theoretical edifices that engage the legal scholars. Rather they must respond to specific, often very narrow issues that come before them. Nevertheless, most of them found the interchange between academicians and practitioners stimulating and enlightening. The scholars, in turn, benefited from the challenge of having to respond to a series of pragmatic questions focusing on the nuts and bolts of deciding cases that were raised by the judges.

Within this framework, a cluster of themes emerged from the discussions. They include the following.

The Need For a Renewal of State Constitutionalism

There was near universal approval for such a movement. Only a few state courts were apparently comfortable marching lock step with the United States Supreme Court. A number of judges expressed dissatisfaction with what they saw as mixed messages contained in recent federal decisions and mentioned this as impelling them to explore their state constitutions.

Most judges were eager to advance state constitutionalism and more than willing to turn to their state constitutions if these would support granting more individual rights than did the U.S. Supreme Court in its interpretations of the federal Constitution.

Representative Views

In the sixties, the federal courts were the sole repository for protection of individual rights. That's where all of us went. You made the law there. Now, most of us recognize that that is not the repository [we need], so we're looking for a new place, and that's got to be the state courts. We're looking for a new forum.

I have served on my state supreme court for twelve years. It's kind of been two different courts. For the first ten years an all-white male court, and I would say we were somewhat moderate. We never used the state constitution. During the last two years, there have been three new members and we have been using the state constitution a great deal.

I think it's wrong to assume that the majority of state appellate justices are opposed to the shift in the doctrine [interpreting individual rights] articulated by the Rehnquist court.

Give us a break. Come back to the state courts. We know how to read federal cases. We know what rights are. And we know how to read our own constitutions. And I think we should be doing more of that.

In criminal law, I don't think there are many of us in my state that are wanting to get ahead of the United States Supreme Court and be any more liberal than they are in the area.

In my state, which has thoroughly turned to the state constitution, one phenomenon is that the Supreme Court of the United States practically has been irrelevant. There's no uniformity. In the areas that we're really concerned about, the Supreme Court doesn't say, 'Three say this, two say this, two say this, one says this and one says something else.' We don't pay any attention to it. We go our own way. We may have exactly the same fight, but we fight it out among ourselves.

The notion out our way [the midwest] is that the recent turns in the United States Supreme Court have been good. There isn't much enthusiasm, at least among the majority of our court, to change it. I have an idea this is more prevalent in rural areas. We don't see the gross deprivations of human rights that other jurisdictions possibly see. There are a few exceptions, but we've tracked quite well with the federal Constitution

We feel that the decisions, at least within the last decade or so, of the United States Supreme Court are difficult to contain. We have to write a little diagram as to just where the Supreme Court is on a particular issue. We don't want to make our task more complicated, and it's very easy for us to resolve them in the state constitution.

There is at least a strong possibility that the protection of individual rights is going to become in the nineties and thereafter the domain of the state supreme courts, just as in the sixties it was the domain of the federal courts. There has been almost a sea change in philosophy and focus as far as individual rights are concerned. I think [state constitutionalism] is an idea whose time has come.

The Concept of Floor and Ceiling

This metaphor, first suggested by Justice Brennan in 1977, was used again and again by the judges to express the notion that while U.S. Supreme Court rulings establish a mandatory floor below which rights cannot fall, state courts are free to interpret their own constitutions as granting more rights.

Representative Views

In terms of individual rights, the federal system should be viewed as providing a floor, and the state constitution can provide rights in excess of that floor. Some would argue that the floor has been raised to a level that approaches the ceiling. And others would argue the opposite.

The federal Supreme Court has given us a ground, a floor, a limit below which we cannot go. But I don't think there's anything wrong in individual states going above those limits.

In Prune Yard Shopping Ctr. v. Robins, [447 U.S. 74 (1980)] the United States Supreme Court held, nine-zip, that if a state wants to disagree with their concept in that conflict, the state has a right to do so. What that amounts to, I think, is that the United States Supreme Court sets the floor for individual rights, but any state may set the ceiling wherever it sees fit, and the Supreme Court will uphold that, if challenged. And that opinion, saying the states could disagree with them and give their citizens more rights than the United States Supreme Court requires, was written by Justice Rehnquist.

Our courts have recently held the federal Bill of Rights as a floor beneath which we cannot fall, and our state's bill of rights as a ceiling. In our criminal jurisprudence and our civil law they are actively turning to the state constitution.

The Role of Unique State Sources in Interpreting State Constitutions

The issue that stimulated the most intense discussion was the central role of unique state sources—including text, history and judicial precedent—in state constitutional decisionmaking. Although Professor Kahn argued for a new form of American constitutionalism that would transcend what he saw as parochial state grounds, the judges were almost unanimous in their view that local traditions embodied in unique state sources had to form the basis of state constitutional jurisprudence. Justice Johnson advanced the latter viewpoint in her comments on Professor Kahn's paper, and her views were echoed resoundingly in the small discussion groups. Most of the judges believed there was something special about their state's history, even in an era in which, according to Professor Kahn, regional and local differences are rapidly eroding and even in states whose constitutional history was obscure.

Representative Views

Our constitution was adopted relatively late, in 1889. You might think we'd have a lot more information about what our founders were thinking. We really don't. What we know comes from newspaper accounts of the time. Nevertheless, I feel very uncomfortable about jettisoning the doctrine of unique state sources. I have a gut feeling that there is something unique about the constitution of the state of Washington. I'm sure each of you feels the same way about your state's history.

I think it's a mistake to ignore unique state sources. Particularly in relatively new states like New Mexico, where our constitution that was adopted in 1912 is not a mirror image of the federal Constitution. An example is the right to bear arms. Unlike the federal Constitution that talks about militias, the constitution of the state of

New Mexico says in effect that every person has a right to bear arms for his or her defense, for hunting, for recreation and for any other lawful purpose. The only thing it prevents is carrying a concealed weapon.

I like [Professor Kahn's] concept of American constitutionalism. But as a practical and a political matter, the movement toward this concept is not going to be done by completely avoiding unique state sources.

I lean strongly toward unique state sources as the first place that our state would look. We have a rich heritage. Indiana's bill of rights in our 1851 constitution has thirty-seven provisions. Many of them are quite a bit different from the federal rights. We have five specific provisions about religious freedom. We have an entire section on education, so these encourage us to look more to unique state sources. We will not really get to the American constitutionalism that Professor Kahn talks about until we exhaust and deplete the historical basis for the unique state sources.

I don't see unique state sources as a limitation. You want to reach the result. You think that the constitutional rights which have to be protected are not properly protected by the Supreme Court of the United States as it interprets the federal Constitution. Your analysis leads you to find something in your state constitution which you can hang your hat on to protect those rights.

I have a problem in that I tried to find some state sources in our constitution. It had to do with a right-tocounsel issue. I found that while there are volumes of journals of the constitutional convention, their concerns were banks and branch banking and Indian tribes and internal improvement. Virtually nothing was said about the provisions we've been talking about today. There's a real paucity of state sources.

We view Michigan v. Long as sort of requiring at least paying lip service to unique state sources. Michigan v. Long only protects you if you ground [your decision] in independent and adequate state ground.

The Reliance on Core Values in Judicial Decisionmaking

Many judges expressed their belief in the notion that a sense of justice, or core values, frequently provided a firm ground for decisionmaking. Core values, it was suggested, played a dual role: they motivated judges to use state constitution sources wherever possible to support outcomes they sought to reach, and they also allowed judges to go beyond state sources when they were silent on a particular question of protecting individual rights. A few judges, however, urged caution in using core values as a vehicle for making decisions that may actually be based on ideological grounds.

Representative Views

The notion that there is a generalized pool of core values out there and that state court judges have as much legitimacy speaking with authoritative voices to articulate these values is very consistent with my notion of what my job is all about.

I'm not suggesting that I'm as bright as anybody on the United States Supreme Court, but rather that our interpretation of what is the core of American constitutional values is as valid as the interpretation of the United States Supreme Court.

The notion of this whole debate—that one should be more acutely concerned with the concepts expressed than with the words—is simply an unvarnished call to judicial activism. Whether judges are elected or serve for life terms or are appointed by governors with retention elections, we take an oath to uphold our state constitution. And we should do that. On the other hand, I don't think it is an empty vessel into which we can pour our own idiosyncratic ideas about what the just society is.

I believe that we are, as a court, free to make some kind of independent interpretation of core values. I don't think we can be limited to what the Founding Fathers or Framers of the Constitution meant. They were just talking about general values for the most part. I have little doubt that the people writing the Fourteenth Amendment would have been shocked if you told them that it protected miscegenation. Nevertheless, it is recognized that it does. I think that recognizes that equal protection is a core value and has to be reconsidered in modern terms.

I find absolutely nothing wrong with pursuing whatever means are available to reach the conclusion. You have a sort of gut reaction to where you want to go, and you find justification wherever you find it.

Which Constitution, Federal or State, Should be Reviewed First by State Court Judges?

In attempting to answer this question, the judges considered an array of historical and procedural issues. There was great divergence of opinion on the matter, ranging from the belief that state court judges are free to rely solely on state constitutions to the conviction that state courts have some obligation to look first to federal court decisions for answers before proceeding to an examination of state constitutions.

Representative Views

I think there is a little danger in interpreting state constitutions differently just for its own sake. Although the state and the federal Constitution language may be different, the intent is probably pretty similar. I think there is something to be said for uniformity. The state constitution should be interpreted differently only if there is a very compelling reason.

I feel that my role as a supreme court justice is to interpret our own state constitution. Our state is very active. Any time a case is challenged, or we take a criminal case, we decide it first on a sub-constitutional basis. Then, if it's necessary to go beyond that, to the state constitution, and then to the federal Constitution.

Justice Hans Linde of the Oregon Supreme Court, a very vocal advocate of the use of state constitutions, said every case ought to be decided in three stages. First, you look at the statute involved. If you can decide it under the statute, do that. If not, go up to the state constitution next. If you can decide it under the state constitution, do that. And only as a last resort do you look to the U.S. Constitution. I think that's a sound principle.

Some of us tend sometimes to forget the fact that the oath a judge takes is to support the federal Constitution, as well as [the state's] constitution. And I have just as much responsibility to uphold the United States Constitution as any justice on the U.S. Supreme Court, I hope. And I take it seriously. In matters where state constitutions are identical, I don't think I'm at liberty to go against the U.S. Supreme Court. They are the highest authority in this land, under the federal Constitution.

How Should State Constitutionalism Operate When the Language of the Federal and State Constitutions are Identical?

When state constitutions provide greater rights than do parallel clauses in the federal Constitution, state court judges can, it was agreed, legitimately base their decisions on such provisions. But when the language of the state constitution is identical to that of the federal Constitution, how can judges claim to interpret it as providing more rights than the United States Supreme Court does?

This difficult question engendered a great deal of lively discussion. Some judges thought identical language should not be interpreted independently. Many felt that divergent interpretation was permissible and even desirable in a range of cases, with the caveat that state courts should move cautiously in drawing different conclusions from identical language. A number of judges, however, took the view that the very existence of a state constitution was a sufficient foundation for reaching almost any conclusion whether or not the language is the same.

Representative Views

If you have identical language, it seems to me you have some fairly big hurdles to get over before you come to a conclusion that is the opposite result.

We have the power to do it. The question is: Do we want to exercise it? Do we want to interpret our constitution differently from the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of identical words in the U.S. Constitution? I think we have the power. The question, is: Do we have the duty?

When the language in the state constitution is identical to the federal Constitution, it can be interpreted differently. Obviously, that ought to be done with great caution, but uniformity between federal and state on occasion may have to give way as justice requires. And whatever justice requires, the end result is going to be based on what kind of reason is provided and what kind of core values exist.

We are interpreting constitutions not just for professors and supreme court justices, but for policemen and ordinary citizens. So we've got the same provision in the federal and state constitution. If the two are identical, we ought to be awfully careful about giving them different interpretations, not only because you're giving the same language a different meaning, but also because you lose some credibility with ordinary citizens who say: "You use the same language. Why do two courts take exactly the opposite approach?" Notwithstanding all that, there may be some situations where you would do it.

One may look at federal precedent as being persuasive, but it is not mandatory, and if the state wants to assign an entirely different meaning or construction to that identical language, that's why the state is a recognized independent sovereign.

Inasmuch as I come from a state that has adopted different constructions of identical language in state and federal constitutions, I thought it was a foregone conclusion that a state had the power to adopt a different construction as long as it did not restrict fundamental liberties as they exist under federal law.

It should clearly appear that this is not just an exercise in power, an exercise in sovereignty, but a good faith disagreement in principle, disagreement with a previous decision—the same type of analysis which would be rendered when overruling the prior precedent of one's own court or failing to follow the precedent of the court of a sister state.

The Role of Attorneys, Scholars and Law Schools in Contributing to State Constitutionalism

The judges uniformly noted that they depend on lawyers to raise pertinent state constitutional issues on the appellate level. Very few believed they could take the responsibility of introducing these questions. They were concerned that lawyers do not know their state constitutions and that state constitutional law is not addressed in the law school curriculum. There was a consensus that lack of knowledge and interest on the part of the bar was a major impediment to the development of state constitutional jurisprudence.

Representative Views

I think the problem for us is that the bar has to be strictly educated to preserve these claims and to present them to us and brief them and argue them well. If the bar does its job, I think the court will do its job.

Our problem to date is getting the practicing bar to preserve the issue under the Montana Constitution, so we can fully use our nice, shiny, progressive 1972 fully-transcribed constitution. When I speak to bar associations, I try to gin up the idea.

We have a specific right to privacy, a specific right of the public to know about everything that goes on in government, a right to a clean and healthy environment, and so forth. Some of us are rarin' to go to interpret some of these things.

- I think we're behind. You'll find that the academics have been talking about this ever since Brennan's speech.
- Though they do not have courses on state constitutional law. They aren't teaching it in law schools.
- Especially your national law schools.

We've had cases on our books for a generation now varying from the federal Constitution in search and seizure. We have the problem of lawyers not raising these issues. When they start doing it, they find all kinds of stuff in the state constitution that's not even covered in the federal Constitution.

As of about two years ago, in our state bar exams we require applicants to answer a question on [our state's] constitutional law. In our dissents and footnotes and invited questions for oral argument, we will specifically ask counsel to address [state] constitutional issues. Our chief justice has done a lot of speaking about state constitutional issues. Two of our state law schools are going to be offering courses in state constitutional law. I'm going to be teaching one for the first time next fall—and scared to death to face the student body. It's going to be a learning experience.

Professor Kahn was open in his remarks that most constitutional scholars know more about East European or West African constitutions than they do about the Mississippi or the Texas constitution. There has been a tendency not to focus on state constitutionalism so that our lawyers come before us and make only passing reference to the state constitution. They never brief it; they don't know how to research it; they don't know how to argue it.

If lawyers will look at our state constitution, they will find a lot of individual rights that are not protected as much by the U.S. Supreme Court under the federal Constitution. But these are generally never alleged in the complaints, and, as a result, as a trial judge I don't get to deal with some of the issues that I think the lawyers ought to bring out.

PROCEEDINGS OF THE CONFERENCE

	. <u>"—</u>	

Professor Kahn challenged the acceptance of the belief that state constitutionalism must be based on the doctrine of unique state sources. He asserted that in an increasingly homogenous American polity, state communities no longer retained the individuality necessary to support the legitimacy of distinct state constitutional law doctrines.

In making the case for abandoning the doctrine of unique state sources, he proposed a far broader concept of American constitutionalism in which state courts can interpret their constitutional texts by appealing to state, national and international sources. The end of state constitutionalism, he suggested, is to realize within the local community a common, American ideal of the rule of law within a system of majority rule.

Much of the recent interest in state constitutionalism arises out of frustration with the changing direction of federal constitutional law. Justice Brennan initiated much of this recent work and never disguised his own feelings about the Supreme Court's turn away from the protection of individual rights. As the Court has become increasingly conservative, the hope has arisen that state courts interpreting state constitutions would take up the cause of individual rights.

Paradoxically, even those who have been most forceful in arguing that the state courts should continue with the liberal agenda have allowed the increasingly conservative federal courts to set the parameters within which state constitutionalism is pursued. They accept the idea that state courts must rely on state text, state history and the particular values of the unique state community. I call this the doctrine of unique state sources.

INTERPRETATION
AND AUTHORITY
IN STATE
CONSTITUTIONALISM*

Professor Paul W. Kahn Yale Law School

^{*}Professor Kahn's remarks were based on a paper prepared for the Forum. His paper appears in the Harvard Law Review, Volume 106, (1993).

The result has been a substantial frustration and a continual sense that state constitutionalism is not living up to expectations. This is only to be expected. By allowing the constitutionalism of the federal bench to set the terms of the inquiry, state constitutionalism accepts a set of assumptions that severely constrain its possibilities.

State courts should abandon the doctrine of unique state sources, a doctrine that divides them from each other, as well as from the national community. They should aim to give voice not to a narrow state constitutionalism, but to the broadest vision of American constitutionalism. ??

There is no necessity that state courts accept the niggardly view of constitutional rights offered by the federal judiciary. Similarly, there is no compelling reason to accept the federal courts' narrow view of constitutionalism. State courts should abandon the doctrine of unique state sources, a doctrine that divides them from each other, as well as from the national community. They should aim to give voice not to a narrow state constitutionalism but to the broadest vision of American constitutionalism. Only then will the state courts be able to draw upon the richest sources of American constitutional law: the ongoing national debate over the meaning of equality, liberty, due process and limited government. Only then will state constitutionalism become a vibrant part of the single enterprise of American constitutionalism.

Pitfalls of relying on unique state sources

The doctrine of unique state sources assumes a vitality of state communities that is no longer consistent with the real state of our federalism. Today, public life has been largely captured by the central state. Local public life is frequently identified with prejudice, discrimination, censorship and ideological rigidity. The individual citizen turns to the national authority for protection from these constraints on his or her freedom.

Modern state constitutionalism has been characterized by the simultaneous and reciprocal development of national political authority and individual liberty. The central state has grown at the expense of local forms of public association. The individual has been largely freed from church, family, town, militia and, more recently, unions, schools and political parties. The decline of a vibrant place for the state is only one aspect of this general disappearance of a rich public life at a level below that of the national community.

Increasingly, the state is seen as only an aggregate of private citizens, not an ongoing historical community. Individuals in the United States are extremely mobile. Information, ideas, art and literature are not constrained by geographical boundaries. A national culture supports national political life.

If the states are no longer the locus of a vibrant community experience, then a state constitutionalism that looks to the unique state community for its sources of decisionmaking promises to remain a marginal factor in American public life. No doubt, a good part of the effort to reinvigorate state constitutionalism represents a longing for a resurgence of a rich local community. But the move towards national political identity and the emptying of the intermediate associations of public life are not simply consequences of a passing phase of a liberal judiciary. These are trends that characterize modernity everywhere.

If the states are no longer the locus of a vibrant community experience, then a state constitutionalism that looks to the unique state community for its sources of decision-making promises to remain a marginal factor in American public life. ??

Interpretation transcends state sources

It makes little sense to rely on the doctrine of unique state sources. It is simply implausible to believe that each state has worked out unique answers to major constitutional issues such as requirements of equality, liberty and due process. The doctrine assumes that the answers to problems of constitutional interpretation can be found within the existing materials of the community's experience, whether text, history or public values. But constitutionalism is a process of interpretation, and it is wrong to think the answers can be found outside of that process. The judge cannot escape the responsibility of interpretation. There is no source that will simply present an answer.

Consider, for example, the constitutional value of equality. It is not possible for a judge, or anyone else, to consider the meaning of equality without drawing on a wealth of experience, arguments and values that range across local, national and even international communities. Each judge tries to construct the best interpretation of equality of which he or she is capable. The inquiry might turn to any number of texts, precedents and historical events, as well as to moral intuitions and principled arguments.

State judges offer the variety that has been driven out of the federal courts. To the degree that [state judges'] voices are added to the debate, we should expect a reinvigoration of a democratic order committed to the rule of law. 99

We distort this process if we conceive of it as an effort to put into place a local community's unique concept of equality instead of that constitutional goal of equality that is a common aspiration of American life. The same can be said of liberty, due process and the other large values of our constitutionalism.

To the degree that the interpretative debate within the federal bench has diminished, a new locus must be found for that discourse. In part, that locus is the academy. In part, it is Congress. Another important part, however, is the state courts. State judges offer the variety that has been driven out of the federal courts. To the degree that their voices are added to the debate, we should expect a reinvigoration of a democratic order committed to the rule of law.

Interpretation as a unifying force in American constitutionalism

State constitutionalism should not, therefore, become another vehicle for removing diverse voices from the national debate. It should not splinter the debate over the rule of law into the babble of fifty different communities. At its best, state constitutional discourse can be directed at the same principles of the rule of law that underlie federal constitutionalism. American constitutionalism is not simply an aggregate of distinct bodies of state and federal doctrine. Rather, American constitutionalism is the interpretive enterprise that seeks to understand the appropriate role for the rule of law in a democratic order.

I have made two arguments that need to be brought together. First: State constitutionalism should free itself from the constitutionalism of the contemporary federal courts, in particular from the doctrine of unique state sources. Second: Constitutionalism is itself an interpretive enterprise; it is not bound to a single truth. These arguments intersect at the point at which state constitutionalism is placed within the larger enterprise of American constitutionalism.

Now the word "constitution" is ambiguous. It can mean the written document, or it can mean the basic values and institutional structures that constitute a particular polity. Not everything in the constitutional context is of constitutional dimension, and not everything of constitutional dimension finds its way into the text. Nevertheless, these two meanings tend to come together once the constitution is understood as the object of interpretation. Interpretation brings to the text an understanding of the larger constitution of the polity.

Of course different courts will reach different conclusions. But there is not one equality in Connecticut and another in Rhode Island. There may be differences in interpretation between the courts of the two states. These are differences, however, that each state needs to engage and discuss, and not simply dismiss as arising from unique state sources.

Interpretive diversity is the ordinary way in which we experience constitutional meanings. Only occasionally does a court speak authoritatively to a constitutional controversy. Even when a court does speak, its pronouncements rapidly become only another text that is in turn subject to interpretation. Nevertheless, every community must have the capacity to stop talking and to act. It must locate within itself an authority to decide.

The authority of state courts to resolve a dispute comes from two distinct sources: state and federal. This is a distinction that matters when we ask not about the interpretation of law but about the authority of an interpretation. A state court that rests its authority on federal power is subject to the power of the federal institutions to coerce compliance with an interpretation with which the state court may disagree. Conversely, a decision that rests on state power is subject to revision by the institutions of the state, including the power of constitutional amendment.

State constitutionalism begins when federal authority ends, not when the use of federal sources ends.

In my view, each state constitution represents, in large measure, an effort to realize within the bounds of a particular jurisdiction a common idea of American constitutionalism. While some states were founded to secure a place for difference from existing political communities, most states were founded not to be different but to realize for their own communities the ideas that are our common heritage. Each state sought to be, and continues to seek to be, the ideal American community.

A state court interpreting American constitutionalism is therefore a powerful counter-force to federal court interpretation of the federal Constitution. The responsibility that arises from their authority gives the state courts a special role in articulating their differences with the federal bench. The explanation of American citizenship is too important a task to leave to the federal courts alone.

If the state courts are freed from the narrow parochialism of traditional federalism, then the meaning of American citizenship is enriched. It is enriched whenever new voices are added to the debate. It is especially enriched because fifty different courts are now talking to each other, as well as to the federal courts, about the meaning of common enterprise. In this way, constitutional federalism will help to bind each of the states to the others.

This federalism can make us a better national community. It need not divide us from each other.

Response

by Justice Denise R. Johnson, Vermont Supreme Court

In her response, Justice Johnson strongly defended the usefulness and vitality of unique state sources in state constitutional jurisprudence. She argued that both in theory and practice, the concept of unique state sources is central to the legitimacy of state court interpretation.

She urged judges not to abandon unique state sources, and outlined a process of judicial decisionmaking that takes into account core values and historical background as well as constitutional text.

Academics develop doctrines and judges decide cases.

That statement is not meant either to trivialize the work of academics or to exalt the work of judges, but to point to the very real difference in perspective that we each bring to this problem of state constitutional adjudication.

The part of Professor Kahn's paper that I agree with most is his point that the state courts are independent interpretive bodies entitled to take issue, under their own authority and within their own jurisdictions, with any constitutional decision of the United States Supreme Court, regardless of whether their own state constitutions provide the same or a different text.

After *Michigan v. Long*, those decisions should be insulated from review. There is nothing result-oriented or unprincipled about agreeing with a dissenting view of the Supreme Court or in taking a wholly different view from any expressed in an opinion of that court. In other words, the Court is handing down those decisions on mere paper, not stone tablets. Neither the Warren nor the Burger-Rehnquist courts have had a lock on the truth.

To the extent that Professor Kahn attempts to empower us by emphasizing that American constitutionalism is a continuing debate over the meaning of the rule of law in a majoritarian political system and that we, as state appellate judges, are just as entitled to engage in that debate as any member of the federal appellate bench, I fully support his views.

I thought this point was self evident. But after I started reviewing the literature, I learned that there is no small disagreement among us about whether and how to approach state constitutional issues. Some courts have asserted that state constitutional issues should be addressed first; and if a violation is found, no further inquiry is necessary. Others believe that state constitutions should be

There is nothing result-oriented or unprincipled about agreeing with a dissenting view of the Supreme Court or in taking a wholly different view from any expressed in an opinion of that court. The Court is handing down those decisions on mere paper, not stone tablets. ??

consulted only when the state court disagrees with the interpretations of a parallel state provision in the United States Constitution, or only if the parallel state provision has a different wording. Vermont even has a decision that says we should always consult both.

The central role of state constitutions

My view is that we ought to face up to state constitutional issues when they are raised by the parties, regardless of whether we disagree with the United States Supreme Court or not. To see state constitutions as merely supplemental or interstitial is, in my view, an outright rejection of the state's sovereign authority and an abdication of judicial responsibility.

I realize my perspective is short. I came to the bench out of practice, in which I used the state constitution to advance the claims of my clients. And when I started to sit, the state constitutional movement was well under way in Vermont. Nothing about the notion of a state interpreting its own constitution seemed foreign to me.

Others of you, who have a longer perspective and who sat or practiced for years in an era when state constitutional claims were rarely raised by the parties and were considered too insignificant a subject for commentary, may have had a more difficult time ascending to this new seat of power. It may have seemed that reaching for the state constitution was like grasping at straws.

Perhaps this is why the unique state sources doctrine seemed so attractive. Judges may have reasoned that if there was a real, solid textual or historical ground on which to base their disagreement with the new conservative direction being taken by the Supreme Court, then it was okay to do so. It was a rationale that was more legitimate than mere disagreement.

In my own state, the late Justice Thomas L. Hayes issued a virtual call to arms in the *State v. Jewett* case in 1985. In that opinion, Justice Hayes called upon litigants and judges to develop an

independent state constitutional jurisprudence based on text, historical materials, economic and sociological materials, and the decisional law of states with similar constitutional clauses. He, too, was concerned with creating an approach to state constitutional adjudication that commanded respect and that had legitimacy.

State sources are legitimate

Although a wealth of decisions on state constitutional issues is now reported, one still finds articles being written that go to the very legitimacy of a state court's right to interpret its own law—like Professor Kahn's article.

We are still at a place where the legitimacy of the state constitutional movement is being debated.

This brings me to my disagreement with Professor Kahn. I disagree that state judges should be anxious to reject unique state sources. I do not think they will do so. I disagree that only by rejection will we engage in the kind of national constitutional debate that will save state courts from the dustbin of legal history. Rather, I think we will reach the same result Professor Kahn desires whether we reject or rely on unique state sources simply by engaging in the enterprise of state constitutional adjudication.

Let me return to my point that academics develop doctrines and judges decide cases. In my experience, judging is a very intuitive process. Judges do not use a doctrinal approach to deciding cases, especially involving significant constitutional rights guaranteed by the Bill of Rights. Their approach to a case begins with the facts, with answering the question of whether something happened in this case that offends their sense of justice or their sense of the core values embodied in our constitutions as we understand them.

In other words, judges ask themselves: "Where is the balance here between individual and government in this case? Has it unfairly tipped in one direction or another?" Our answers, as I think all of us know, are influenced by a lifetime of personal experiences, our view of the role of government in society and whether we place ourselves in the majority or the minority camp. In other words, by our world view, if you will. And once we reach the decision that our core values are either offended or not, the last thing we are likely to do is rule out a unique state source that might support the ruling we feel is correct. Judges will and should use whatever is legitimately useful to support their rulings. And what could have more legitimacy for a state court than a unique state source? I cannot think that it is philosophically wrong to take that approach.

Moreover, there will be occasions, despite our core values, when a unique state source, whether text or other materials, really provides the answer. In those cases—and they may be rare—we are compelled to ground our decision on the unique state source, and indeed may be directed by it.

I am thinking in particular about bail, which has been the subject of many constitutional amendments. In Vermont, an amendment process was initiated last year. It if passes, judges will be allowed to put the accused in jail if he is considered dangerous to the public. This will overrule several recent cases holding to the contrary.

Now, bail appeals will not be a situation in which we will be able to consider ourselves unlimited by text, regardless of whether our core values about the presumption of innocence are offended. I do not really think that Professor Kahn would disagree with the use of unique state sources when they are directive.

Certainly judges in those states with recently adopted or significantly amended constitutions for which there are modern source materials and legislative history will not embrace the notion that they should be unlimited by text or the intent of the framers.

Although I am not an elected judge, I think it is unlikely that judges who run for office will want to be seen as divorcing themselves from unique state sources. When their constitutional

I think it is unlikely that judges who run for office will want to be seen as divorcing themselves from unique state sources. They will not be campaigning on the ground that one state is just like another.

opinions are scrutinized in a campaign, my guess is that they will want to represent themselves as linked, not separated, from their states and constituents, and they will want to portray themselves as specifically suited to and understanding of their state's unique cultural history and values. They will not be campaigning on the ground that one state is just like another.

State constitutionalism is not limited to state sources

Having said that unique state sources should not be rejected as the ground of decision, I want to acknowledge Professor Kahn's point that in states where the historical materials are nonexistent or unreliable, this approach is something of a problem.

In Vermont, with a constitution that dates from the late 1700s and with what some view as questionable historical materials, lawyers and judges are faced with a formidable task in attempting to divine the meaning of various provisions. We do not, in fact, get good briefing. But when the text and historical materials do not shed light on an issue, I do not think this is any reason for abandoning the enterprise.

This is a particular place in which Professor Kahn's approach may be used. I think in that situation, the court has to be intellectually honest about the fact that the answer is not provided by the intent of the framers and the words of the document, and then proceed to a discussion of what really drives the result.

Let me give an example. In State of Vermont v. Robert Kirchoff, [156 Vt. 1.] an open fields case decided by the state supreme court in Vermont on constitutional grounds, one can see three different interpretive approaches. The majority comes to the conclusion that Article XI, which provides that people have a right to hold themselves, their houses, papers and possessions free from search or seizure, is not meaningfully different in language from that of the Fourth Amendment, which uses the word "effects" instead of "possessions." The majority disagrees,

however, with the rationale of the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Oliver v. United States*, [104 S.Ct. 1735 (1984).] holding that open fields beyond the curtilage are not subject to the protection of the Fourth Amendment.

In rejecting the notion that different words compelled the result, Justice Morris writes:

We strive to honor not merely the words, but the underlying purposes of constitutional guarantees, and to give meaning to the text in light of contemporary experience. Our duty is to discover and protect the core values that gave life to Article XI.

The majority opinion is largely a discussion of the development of federal law preceding *Oliver* and why the majority chooses not to follow *Oliver*.

A concurring opinion accuses the majority of being unduly concerned with federal constitutional law and not enough concerned with the historical and philosophical background of the ideas expressed in the Vermont Constitution. The concurrence emphasized the text of Article XI as meaning something different from the Fourth Amendment, drawing support for its rationale on its historical setting.

At the time the Vermont Constitution was adopted, Vermont had several land disputes with the state of New York. One of the things Vermonters did not like was that New York used to send law officers to invade the lands of the people of Vermont. This concern was reflected in the preamble.

So the concurring justice relied more generally on the differences between the United States Constitution and the state constitution and found a special commitment to liberty in the Vermont Constitution because of such principles expressed as a prohibition against slavery, which of course did not appear in the U.S. Constitution.

The dissenting opinion, a real stinger, focuses again on the meaning of the Vermont Constitution, but comes to a different interpretive result. It basically focuses on the language of effects and possessions and reaches the same results as Oliver.

There you have three grounds for decision: core values, text and historical background, and text and invective. All made use of unique state sources, but each interpreted them differently.

The majority opinion, I think, does exactly what Professor Kahn would like us to do when we encounter issues involving the grander concepts of Anglo-American jurisprudence, and that is to find that the concepts are more important than the words in which they are expressed. But I do not think the majority opinion rejected the unique state sources because they were too parochial, but because it did not find them compelling.

Constitutional adjudication is a dynamic process. It is not formulaic. It ought not to be subject to *per se* rules. Whether a unique state source will be the appropriate ground for decision should be subject to a case-by-case analysis. It is at least the starting point.

I think the most important lesson we can draw from Professor Kahn, however, is that we do not need a unique state source to justify our differences with the interpretation of the federal Constitution. The concept of sovereignty gives state courts the right and the justification to disagree.

Developing a viable state constitutional jurisprudence

Resting a state constitutional holding on a unique state source will not, in my opinion, turn every state away from every other. We will be turned toward each other, partly as a natural consequence of some of the points that Professor Kahn makes—that is, inadequate or unreliable source materials in states with older constitutions. But also, we do not have fifty unique state constitutions. The old state constitutions are not that different from each other. Vermont's is based on Pennsylvania's, and there are a number of states that have similar provisions. But even when they are different, interpretation does become more important than words.

Even when holdings rest on unique state sources, they still make a contribution to what might be termed the common law of state constitutional adjudication, because state courts look to other state courts—and federal courts, for that matter—in cases that have faced similar issues and similar fact situations. The reasoning of these decisions provides guidance on core values, even when the language differs. Inevitably, there will be a blending, no matter how unique we consider our own states.

Right now we are acting without large bodies of state constitutional precedent, which is one of the reasons that text and historical data remain central to the inquiry. It may well be that as state courts develop a body of constitutional law, and judicial meaning is added or subtracted from text, then original sources will have less significance than accepted judicial interpretation of text.

Finally, on the grand concepts, I think our core values drive us to decision. And this is ultimately what will forge an American constitutional law.

We may sometimes use unique state sources to get there, but I think we are already on the mission that Professor Kahn wishes us to undertake.

Professor Amar proposed the creation of "converse-1983" remedies to provide state law causes of action for citizens whose federal constitutional rights have been violated by federal officials. He suggested that such causes of action could be achieved through state constitutions, legislation or judge-made common law. He urged state judges to consider this method of state court action in the application of federal constitutional rights.

By re-examining "converse-1983" laws I hope to make you aware of a dramatic set of progressive actions that you as state judges may take in the service of constitutional rights. As shorthand, you might call the specific proposal "converse-1983." The basic idea is that state law—whether state statute, state constitutional provision or state common law, state judge-made law—can provide a remedy, a cause of action for damages against federal officials when they violate the federal Constitution.

Whereas 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 provides a *federal* law cause of action for federal constitutional violations perpetrated by state officials, a converse-1983 law would provide a *state* law cause of action for federal constitutional violations perpetrated by *federal* officials. Such a converse-1983 law would invoke and invert the logic and language of Section 1983. No state has adopted such a converse-1983 law. But I believe states can and should adopt these laws.

Professor Akhil Reed Amar Yale Law School

USING STATE LAW
TO PROTECT
FEDERAL
CONSTITUTIONAL
RIGHTS*

^{*}Professor Amar's remarks were based on a paper prepared for the Forum. The paper was also delivered, in September 1992 as the 36th Annual Coen Lecture at the University of Colorado Law School, and published in the University of Colorado Law Review, Volume 64, Number 1 (1993).

Two hundred years ago there was no case such as Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Federal Agents. If federal officials violated the Fourth Amendment, the victim sued those officials in tort, in trespass. But it was state law that got you into court. I suggest that this continues to be true today.

Bivens and beyond

Two hundred years ago there was no case such as *Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Federal Agents* [403 U.S. 388 (1971).] If federal officials violated the Fourth Amendment, the victim sued those officials in tort, in trespass. They would plead federal empowerment in the Supremacy Clause, arguing that "the Supremacy Clause gives us a right to do this because federal law trumps state law." But it was state law that got you into court. I suggest that this continues to be true today.

In a variety of contexts, state law can provide a cause of action, whether you are in federal court or state court, when federal officials have violated your federal constitutional rights.

The role of judge-made common law in the enforcement of federal constitutional rights is highlighted by the *Bivens* case. As *Bivens* reminds us, courts—state courts no less than federal courts—can, pursuant to their common law function, infer private causes of action for violations of legal rules laid down in statutes and constitutions.

In the early 1970s, the U.S. Supreme Court recognized a cause of action directly under the Constitution in *Bivens*. But *Bivens* could be eliminated tomorrow. The state courts would then be the ultimate bulwark. State law can help provide a remedy if *Bivens* goes by the board.

The point is that state law can provide a cause of action when federal officials violate the federal Constitution. That law could be in a state constitution. It could be in a state statute. You, as state judges, can do this too, pursuant to your common law function.

For 200 years, the most traditional thing judges have done is infer causes of action directly under legal norms, whether statutory or constitutional. That is what *Marbury v. Madison* actually does. State courts infer causes of actions directly under state statutes all the time. They infer causes of action directly under federal statutes, although there are some tricky preemption issues there. And they can also, as they have historically, infer causes of action directly under the federal Constitution. *Bivens* says so. But if *Bivens* fails, for one reason or another, state courts are going to be what we have left.

Reasserting the role of states in the federal system

Why do we have a federal system? Why do we have states? I think the justification that you think of most is the one associated with Justice Brennan. We have states because they provide a double source of protection. The federal Constitution protects us when states violate constitutional norms and the rights of their citizens. But in addition, state constitutions can protect us against those very same states. So there are two causes of action, two sets of laws you can invoke when a state government violates the Constitution.

This is important. That is the spirit in which most of the literature has proceeded and in which most of you have been thinking. Protecting your citizens against state government is important, but it misses the core justification for federalism at the founding, which is states protecting their citizens against the federal government when the federal government violates the Constitution. That is where the debate needs to proceed.

I want to redirect the focus. When you see the Tenth Amendment in the same Bill of Rights as the rest, you start to see that the Tenth and the other amendments show that states' rights and individual rights are both important in keeping check on the federal government.

The symmetry, the double protection of federalism, is not only, indeed not even centrally, Justice Brennan's argument that we have states and state constitutions to protect us against states. The symmetry is that states can help protect us when the federal government is acting egregiously.

I would not want us to lose sight of this original vision which retains its vitality, the vision of states protecting us against federal unconstitutionality. The symmetry, the double protection of federalism, is not even centrally Justice Brennan's argument that we have states and state constitutions to protect us against states. The symmetry is that states can help protect us when the federal government is acting egregiously. I would not want us to lose sight of this original vision. ??

The case for state-created causes of action

The specific proposal is the idea of a converse-1983 law. Just as Congress can provide a cause of action for damages when states violate the federal Constitution, so states—either by statute or judge-made law, inferring causes of action directly under the Fourth Amendment—can provide causes of action when federal officials violate the federal Constitution.

Even if *Bivens* goes by the boards, there is going to be a way for the Fourth Amendment to be vindicated. That is for you to use state law, trespass law. But I want to go even further, because state trespass law might not go as far as the Fourth Amendment does. So a converse-1983 action is designed to fill that gap between ordinary state trespass law or tort law and what the federal Fourth Amendment prevents federal officials from doing.

Even if it stays on the books, *Bivens* is limited in ways that are not relevant if state law provides the cause of action. Just last term, for example, Justice Antonin Scalia noted that the Court had recognized many immunities in *Bivens* cases. The Court created this cause of action in *Bivens*, but limited it by immunities. Justice Scalia said, in effect: "We created it. What we can create, we can destroy."

The Supreme Court limited the quantum of damages in *Bivens*. But that minimum, that floor, was not designed as a ceiling. It did not mean that states could not go beyond that.

There are going to be some limits on what states can do. I do not think states can provide a million dollars of presumed damages any time there is a Fourth Amendment violation.

State law can provide a cause of action against federal officials when they violate the federal Constitution: not when they violate a federal statute, because there are serious preemption problems there; not when they violate the state constitution, because unless they have also violated the federal Constitution, the Supremacy Clause protects them. The only way you can hold them liable is if they are *ultra vires* because they violated the federal Constitution.

That state law can be enforced in any court, federal or state. Federal courts are going to hear appeals from your courts, and a lot of these cases are going to be removed. Your role is to provide the cause of action itself that helps get someone into court. Without that cause of action, if *Bivens* goes by the boards, there is no way to get into any court.

State law can do this. Pursuant to your common law function, you have the power to recognize substantive legal norms. And in particular, you have a special obligation and duty, under the Marbury principle, to infer causes of action when statutory or constitutional norms have been violated.

Response

by Justice Lloyd Doggett, Texas Supreme Court

Justice Doggett argued that insurmountable obstacles of immunity and preemption make the notion of converse-1983 causes of action impractical and unrealistic, maintaining that all such actions would be removed to federal court. He also reiterated the argument that states do have a unique community reflected in their constitutional history and jurisprudence, and suggested that state courts can play a significant role in protecting individual rights through interpretation of state constitutions.

I think my colleagues would be the first to say that you will not find anyone on the Texas Supreme Court who is likely to be more receptive than I to a new idea to vindicate individual rights, but I have some serious questions about this approach.

I agree in principle that there ought to be a way in state courts to vindicate the rights of state citizens who are injured by federal officials. But I think there are some very serious problems in how that is accomplished, and particularly with this converse-1983 approach.

I also believe that the general idea that really comes out with the enthusiasm that Professor Amar brings to this topic—that we have a shared responsibility as state courts to work continually to enhance the constitutional guarantees protecting the liberties of our citizens—is a very critical one. Both in his paper today and in his 1987 Yale Law Journal article, he has outlined most of the hurdles that the converse-1983-type action he advocates would encounter. He does not view getting over those hurdles as being Olympian feats. I view them as being insurmountable for even the most agile athlete.

One such hurdle is removal, since every converse-1983 action is going to involve a federal question. He indicates in his paper that, as a practical matter, a high percentage of these converse-1983 actions would be removed from our courts to federal courts.

If you substitute "all" for "high percentage," I agree. Indeed, one need only look to the *Bivens* case that notes that the policy in the United States Department of Justice at the time was to remove every single 1983 action from state to federal court. I believe the policy still remains true in my home state. When a Texas official is the subject of a 1983 action, the Texas attorney general removes the case from state, to federal court because he believes the state will find an even more favorable forum in federal court than in the state court.

Professor Amar's law review article says quite specifically that the role of the states is solely to provide victims of constitutional wrongs the chance to have their federal rights defined and fully protected in federal courts. If that is the objective—and I think it is a laudable objective—I am not sure that the states have a great role to play. It seems to me that the better course, rather than to do it indirectly by filing an action in the state and having it removed to the federal court, is to ask Congress to amend 1983 to include federal officials.

Perhaps the greatest obstacle, as acknowledged in his writings, is the improbability that the current federal judiciary will countenance state courts deciding the fate of federal officials. The purpose of any Section 1983-action—converse, reverse, the original—is to remedy a denial of constitutional rights. As I think

most people would concede, the litmus test for selecting judges for the federal bench during the last decade has been more a commitment to the New Right than to the Bill of Rights. With so many judges selected on that basis, I do not believe that today's Supreme Court would look with favor on the concept of the states holding federal officials to a higher standard than perhaps the federal courts would themselves do.

Indeed, Professor Amar indicates that there is long-standing U.S. Supreme Court precedent that precludes states from entertaining converse-1983-type actions in a habeas context. Why, then, would a federal judiciary that has such a tepid commitment to civil liberties in the first place approve an identical action to allow people to recover monetary damages? He expresses faith that the Supreme Court would share his reading of *McCulloch v. Maryland* and comments that "the Supreme Court will find it hard to distinguish scores of cases from the eighteenth and nineteenth century enforcing state law without recognizing any immunity."

That may be true. But scores of cases from recent decades of the twentieth century do not seem to pose much of a problem for this Supreme Court. One need only turn to the "Endangered Precedents" list in Justice Thurgood Marshall's final dissent to understand that with this court, well-reasoned precedents have often constituted little more than a speed bump on the fast track to achieve a desired result.

The place of *Bivens*

Justice Brennan's writing in the *Bivens* case in 1971, as Professor Amar has said, may be gone tomorrow. It may be little more than a speed bump, though certainly I share his hope that it represents much more.

Bivens upheld a civil remedy against federal officials. Though it has been somewhat criticized and narrowed, later interpretation has centered on giving a monetary damage remedy in federal court under Bivens. Each time that a Bivens-type action has been approved, there has been a kind of 1983 counterpart analysis.

I do not believe that today's Supreme Court would look with favor on the concept of the states holding federal officials to a higher standard than perhaps the federal courts would themselves do. ??

Since 1983 actions can be heard—indeed, under a 1990 Supreme Court decision, *must* be heard—by state courts, I do not see an existing barrier to someone filing a *Bivens*-type action against a local FBI agent or the IRS or the Immigration Service in state court. However, I do not think they would get very far, because that case is going to be immediately removed. Still, they already have the option of doing it.

I think, of course, that what happens to *Bivens* is not really within our control as state jurists. What is within our control is what happens with reference to state constitutions and state officials. When you get right down to it, a strong case has not been made that our citizens are subject to greater infringement from federal officials or that there is a danger from which they require protection that is greater on the federal front than on the state and local front. Just the sheer size of the numbers of state and local officials and their daily interaction with our citizens suggests that, if anything, the need is probably greater at the state and local level, in terms of both the potential and the opportunity for abuse of citizens.

There are, of course, states that have still not come to grips with the very basic question that came up in *Bivens*: whether, if you have a violation of state constitutional rights, a court can do anything about it, or whether the judiciary must await enabling legislation before providing a remedy for deprivation of a fundamental state constitutional right.

I would commend the view of Justice Harlan, expressed in his concurrence in Bivens, that when a constitutional right is denied, a court is empowered to redress that violation.

Rather than attempting a federal legislative model, my concern is not so much converse-1983 but reverse-1983, and a reverse of many other liberty gains within the federal courts. I think we have to take advantage of the fact that we have not one Bill of Rights, but fifty-plus-one bills of rights.

"Don't Mess with Texas"

I take exception to the comments Professor Kahn made this morning that there is not really any "state community of interest." Maybe that is true in Connecticut, but I would ask him to come to Texas.

I live in a state where emblazoned on T-shirts, on bumper stickers, on billboards all over the state is the slogan "Don't Mess with Texas." It is a state where a great civil libertarian, my dear friend the late John Henry Faulk, described in his monologues the happy days when Lyndon Johnson was in the White House. Though there was that war in Vietnam and riots in the street, what a comfort it was to all of us in Texas each night as we went to sleep to have a president in the White House who did not speak in a foreign language.

I think there are some unique aspects not just of my state, but of many of your states, and there is some identity within states. But as we look at this question of state constitutionalism, this is not just the rebellion of the country bumpkins or the provinces against the center. Rather, it is fundamentally the notion that the states can be a source of new ideas.

What Justice Brandeis wrote of legislative experimentation in the states sixty years ago is now particularly applicable to state judicial action—the laboratory of democracy exists in the courthouses of our fifty states as well as in their legislatures. Successes in one state can be attempted and improved upon in other states.

Surely, as Professor Amar indicates, you can have controlled experiments from the center and do one thing in Michigan and one thing in Mississippi and one thing in Texas. But the true experimentation comes when each area has the opportunity and preserves for itself the power to make its own decisions, to do its own thinking. The big battle we just had in Texas over Davenport v. Garcia, which is similar to the battle that New York had in People v. Scott, [587 NYS 2d 844 (1992).] is one where very strong words were exchanged, where justices on state supreme courts were saying: "We can't do this. We've got to do just what the federal courts do." Fortunately, in both Texas and New York, this lock step approach was repudiated.

As we look at this question of state constitutionalism, this is not just the rebellion of the country bumpkins or the provinces against the center. Rather, it is fundamentally the notion that the states can be a source of new ideas. ??

We talk about a floor under the federal Bill of Rights and a ceiling provided by the states. With that federal floor in apparent free fall, the place where the exciting legal questions of our day will be resolved is in our state courts. I think we can take a great deal of pride as state judges that in our courthouses across the country we will have an opportunity to deal with the tough issues of the next century. 99

I think the concept of state constitutionalism is not yet sufficiently firm in many of our states, despite the leadership of jurists such as Hans Linde, Stanley Mosk and Christine Durham. We must start at home to address this issue before turning to the invention of new remedies for alleged misconduct of federal officials. In interpreting our state constitutions, we state judges should be neither unduly active nor deferential; rather, we should be independent and thoughtful in considering the unique values, customs, history and traditions of our citizens. Good state constitutionalism is neither purely liberal nor conservative; it is only responsible jurisprudence.

We talk about a floor under the federal Bill of Rights and a ceiling provided by the states. With that federal floor in apparent free fall, the place where the exciting legal questions of our day will be resolved is in our state courts. I think we can take a great deal of pride as state judges that in our courthouses across the country we will have an opportunity to deal with the tough issues of the next century. In the process, we can contribute to the national jurisprudence, and hopefully to a future reawakening to individual liberties here in our nation's capital.

The theme that elicited perhaps the most fervent response from the judges in the breakout discussions following the papers was the vibrancy and unique character of the constitutional traditions they found in their individual states. Whether the constitutions they described were old or new, whatever corner of the nation they were from, and whatever local interests they reflected, the judges made it clear that a deep-rooted sense of state identity shaped the nature of their constitutional jurisprudence. They were proud of their identity and history. The following excerpts from the small-group discussions illustrate the strength of this feeling, which was shared by judges from virtually every state represented at the forum.

THE VITALITY
OF STATE
CONSTITUTIONAL
TRADITIONS:
THE JUDGES
REFLECT

In 1973–1974, Louisiana had a constitutional convention. We have records of the convention, what was said, what was argued and why the language is there. If the Supreme Court of the United States today says, "Miranda was a mistake. You policeman no longer have to give these warnings," it wouldn't change the law in Louisiana because it's part of the Louisiana Constitution. We may be the only state that has the Miranda requirement in our state constitution. We also have the phrase "right of privacy." We frequently try to use the Louisiana Constitution to avoid some of what we read out of Washington.

Our state, Kansas, came into its own right in 1861 as part of the focal point of the Civil War. So our state had a recognition of individual rights when it was formed, and we continue to follow that in our decisions. In fact, in many of our early decisions before the Thirteenth, Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments, the court traditionally said we grant greater rights than the United States Constitution. But we also recognized that it did not include women and Indians in state court.

We're also traditionally from the Bible Belt. One time, we had more churches per capita than any other state. So we tend to color our decisions with our local culture. We tend to view some of the sister state decisions as being just as weird as the U.S. Supreme Court decisions.

We have an 1859 case in my state that said that under the state constitution an indigent defendant in a criminal case is entitled to counsel at public expense. I would assume that if the United States Supreme Court would overrule Gideon v. Wainwright, [372 U.S. 335 (1963).] maybe it would be good somewhere, but it wouldn't be good in my state, where our supreme court has said that the state constitution requires it.

Maryland is one of the thirteen original states, and most of our rights antedate the federal rights by thirteen years. There has been a healthy jurisprudence in Maryland since 1776 about some of these rights. Some of them are in our constitution. Some of them—for example double jeopardy—are a matter of Maryland common law. That's another dimension you might want to think about.

The reliance on state law is not at all foreign to our state jurisprudence. Lawyers in Maryland have not been averse to raising state law. I think Brennan's article, at least in the criminal field, has made them more aware, but there's nothing new.

Our highest court has in some areas interpreted Maryland law differently and more expansively than the feds have, going back twenty, forty, fifty years, particularly in double jeopardy and in some instances in confessions. They've been generally reluctant to do that, however. It has been episodic.

I'm from Texas. We have a unique state source in that we were the only state to join the Union coming in by treaty as a sovereign republic. We have a bill of rights that was written immediately after invasion and occupation by a foreign army. The granting of rights is an affirmative grant to the people, rather than a prohibition against the state. They are strong. There were times when we had been paying taxes to support the Catholic Church, even if we were Baptists. We thought about unreasonable search and seizure because we could have Mexican soldiers quartered in our houses.

These things in our Texas history and tradition give us a unique state source that is as strong as horseradish.

There is a saying: "I shook the hand that shook the hand of Sam Houston." As a boy, I could actually do that. So our frontier traditions and experiences are very raw.

We're a bit different in Hawaii from other states, if only because we're so new. We achieved statehood in 1959. The constitution is not an old document. It's been revised through periodic constitutional conventions. And there are great gaps in case law.

Very early on, our court declared its independence from federal case law, particularly in criminal law and issues of criminal procedure, and indicated that so long as we interpreted our constitution to provide at least as much protection to the individual as the United States Supreme Court, we were unconstrained in according greater protection. That proposition was first articulated by our court in 1967. That preceded Justice Brennan.

As a result, the criminal jurisprudence of the United States Supreme Court in construing the federal Constitution has become largely irrelevant to us. In Hawaii, it's as if the Warren Court never left. We rely almost exclusively on provisions of the state constitution in reaching our results, particularly because they generally diverge from results reached by the United

States Supreme Court, especially in areas of search and seizure and rights to privacy.

I may be parochial, but I think we have a rich and lively and intellectually stimulating community life in our [midwestern] state which is fully capable of supporting our state constitutional decisions.

I felt that maybe Professor Kahn was rejecting the notion of state sources because he somehow didn't think they were up to the task. In our state, at least, we think they're quite up to the task. Even though we have the same difficulties that many other states do in finding historical scholarship, we've tried to reach more broadly. I do agree with him in that regard: we should look to things that have not typically been constitutional sources.

Our original [California] constitution was written both in English and Spanish, so it had characteristics that other states did not have. There is a uniqueness about our constitutional provisions. Our state has a specific guaranteed right of privacy, for instance, that you won't find in the federal Constitution. As a result, our law developed differently. We have community property, which only a few states have. Water rights are particularly important because of the arid character of our state.

We're not a melting pot. I think we're a fruit salad bowl, and if you take lemon juice and put it over apples, it will keep the apples from turning black, but if you put that same lemon juice over bananas, it will turn them black immediately. That's the position we're still in today.

I don't see us as America yet. There are too many divergent forces in this country, each having its own history, and each wanting to express its individualism. And that individuality I think comes through the state system.

We recently had to decide a confrontation-clause case. Is it appropriate under the constitution to permit a six-, seven-, eight-year-old female child to go on closed-circuit television [to give testimony] out of the physical presence of the defendant? The United States Supreme Court says yes. We said no. Our constitution demands face-to-face confrontation. What's wrong with that? I don't think there's anything wrong with each state applying its own principles of rights consistent with the will of the populace.

·		

At the plenary session that concluded the forum, the six Roscoe Pound Fellows who led the small-group discussions summarized the views of the judges on the central issues of state court constitutionalism, presenting consensus when it emerged and also noting divergences of opinion as they occurred. Most differences focused on the question of where to look first—federal or state constitutional law—when confronted with a state constitutional issue. The question of how a judge may arrive at a decision different from that of a federal court when the language interpreted is identical in both the federal and the state constitution also elicited some fragmented answers.

Aside from these areas, however, the discussions yielded notable consensus on the central themes of the forum. There were four major points of agreement among the judges:

- State courts have the authority as well as the duty to develop their own state constitutional jurisprudence. Although in the past, state courts have relied upon federal jurisprudence in the area of individual rights, they are not bound to march in lock step with the federal courts.
- Federal constitutional law and jurisprudence provide a floor, as far as individual rights are concerned that state courts cannot go below. State courts, however, can provide greater rights and those greater rights must prevail when they are based on state constitutional grounds.
- States are a source of vibrant community experience. Unique state sources are and should be the bedrock of state constitutional interpretation.
- Lawyers have been slow to bring properly framed state constitutional issues to state courts for decision. A great deal of work needs to be done to raise the consciousness of lawyers so they become better informed and better trained in articulating them. In addition, law schools

THE FUTURE
OF STATE
CONSTITUTIONALISM:
THE CLOSING
PLENARY

should be encouraged to make a serious effort to teach state constitutional law. As one judge said: "Perhaps one of the greatest benefits of this conference might be that we go back to our respective states and discuss this with the law schools, the local bar associations and our judges' conferences."

These views were so strongly held by the judges that it seemed certain that they would be critical long-term factors shaping the future course of state constitutionalism.

During their discussions, the judges also speculated on the role state courts might play in developing a new form of American constitutionalism, the concept propounded by Professor Kahn. Although the judges vigorously rejected his call to turn away from unique state sources, they envisioned a dynamic process in which states would maintain their identity while learning from one another.

New technology will make rapid and extensive communication among state courts a reality. A data bank was suggested as a way of keeping judges informed about ways in which other states interpret similar constitutional provisions. "I'd like to see what they've done with it," one judge said. "It may be that they decided it in a way with which we would not agree, but I would like to have the benefit of that wisdom and judgment."

State courts are becoming increasingly eclectic, it was suggested. "We're really looking for a rationale we can adopt to move to a certain point," commented a judge from a midwestern state, "and we look to all the states. I think the biggest thing encouraging the use of decisions of other states is the modern way [of] researching We can now find these decisions quickly."

But some judges predicted that getting together would not be easy. One described the multiplicity of state court interpretation as a battleground:

I think that as the movement progresses, we are headed for some difficult sailing. Because despite the fact that Professor Kahn sees the state courts talking to each other and perhaps eventually coming to some national consensus, I think that for a long period of time we're going to have fifty states battling each other. It's almost inevitable that as we wrestle with this new authority, and as it takes hold, there's going to be an awful lot of uneasiness.

Another judge, however, said:

I don't think it's a concern that the states turn against one another. I believe in federalism. I believe that state judges have an obligation to interpret their constitution. To the extent [the states] are unique, then their constitutional jurisprudence should reflect that uniqueness. If there are different solutions to common problems amongst the fifty states, that's what federalism is all about.

As they did at every point, judges returned to the tenacity of individual state character. As one participant said:

On our court, we see our role as writing and interpreting for a different constituency from the United States Supreme Court. The Supreme Court writes for a very broad constituency and deals with problems that have probably the lowest common denominator. We think that in our small state we can perhaps have a little more play in the joints, give a smidgeon more freedom here and there, because we're not writing for the national scene.

"I think the states now are closer legally than we have ever been in the past," one judge commented. "Sure we're going to have differences. You're going to have regional differences. What's wrong with differences?" As they reflected on the larger issues informing the future of state constitutionalism, a common goal enunciated by several judges was the prospect of transcending the political agendas and ideological labels that some observers see as having to some extent marked the movement in the past.

"I don't see any way that one can properly say that state constitutionalism is either liberal or conservative," one of the judges noted. "It does not necessarily ensure either liberal or conservative results to the extent that those terms have much meaning. I see the whole thrust of state constitutionalism as one that is good jurisprudence."

APPENDIX

APPENDIX

Opinion of Justice Lloyd Doggett in *Davenport v. Garcia*, Texas Supreme Court, June 17, 1992

This opinion, which is excerpted below, exemplifies a recent trend in the assertion of state constitutional authority, one that was central to the discussions among the judges at the forum. In Justice Doggett's opinion, the decision, overturning a gag order issued in a civil case, is based solely on the state constitution, which is held to provide greater rights of free expression than the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution.

The concurrence by three of Justice Doggett's colleagues, criticizing his method, also illustrates the fact that state court appellate panels throughout the country are frequently split in their notions of what approaches are appropriate to state constitutional jurisprudence.

The full text of the opinions, including citations omitted in the following excerpts, may be found at [834 S.W. 2d 4 (Tex. 1992)].

In this mandamus proceeding, we address the ability of a judge to suppress speech with a "gag order." A guardian ad litem was appointed to represent 213 children among numerous persons who brought suit concerning toxic chemical exposure at a dump site.

At a hearing, the presiding trial judge, on her own motion . . . instructed the *ad litem*, parties, and counsel to "cease and desist any discussion of this case outside the court hearing" and prohibited any "communications with any other lawyer or discussion at all about the matters that have transpired in this case."

The gag order was reiterated in a written protective order that prohibited any public comment or discussion of the litigation with anyone not involved in the "necessary course of business of this case." Counsel were also directed to inform their clients of the order's applicability to each of them. The sole reason for this sweeping injunction was the finding that conflicts between counsel and the parents of the minor children were resulting in miscommunications with the parents and with the media and general public.

We consider whether the court's gag orders violate the guarantee of free expression contained in Article I, Section 8 of the Texas Constitution, which provides: "Every person shall be at liberty to speak, write or publish his opinions on any subject, being responsible for the abuse of that privilege...."

From the outset of this state's history, freedom of expression has been a priority. Although the 1836 Texas Independence Constitution in general closely tracked the wording of the U.S. Constitution, different language was chosen to protect free speech. Rather than a restriction on governmental interference with speech as provided by the First Amendment, Texans chose from the beginning to assure the liberties for which they were struggling with a specific guarantee of an affirmative right to speak. This language became the model for all of Texas's subsequent state constitutions.

Consistent with this history, we have recognized that our free speech provision is broader than the First Amendment. Under our broader guarantee, it has been and remains the preference of this court to sanction a speaker after, rather than before, the speech occurs. This comports with Article I, Section 8, which both grants an affirmative right to "speak ... on any subject" and holds the speaker "responsible for the abuse of that privilege." The presumption in all cases under Section 8 is that prior restraints are unconstitutional.

Since the dimensions of our constitutionally-guaranteed liberties are continually evolving, we build on our prior decisions by affirming that a prior restraint on expression is presumptively unconstitutional. With this concept in mind, we adopt the following test: A gag order in civil judicial proceedings will withstand constitutional scrutiny only where there are specific findings supported by evidence that (1) an imminent irreparable harm to the judicial process will deprive litigants of a just resolution of their dispute, and (2) the judicial action represents the least restrictive means to prevent that harm.

Assisting our analysis are federal cases that have addressed prior restraints. The standard enunciated in *Nebraska Press Association v. Stuart*, 427 U.S. 539 (1976), does not, however, sufficiently protect the rights of free expression that we believe the fundamental law of our state secures. We adopt a test recognizing that Article I, Section 8 of the Texas Constitution provides greater rights of free expression than

its federal equivalent. We are fully aware that a prior restraint will withstand scrutiny under this test only under the most extraordinary circumstances.

The first requirement of our standard advances from the prior holdings of Texas courts that only an imminent, severe harm can justify prior restraint, and in the context of gag orders, that harm must be to the judicial process. The second part of the test is intended to ensure that no alternative exists to treat the specific threat to the judicial process that would be less restrictive of state speech rights. While this element is shared in common with the ruling in Nebraska Press, we view the federal test announced therein as too permissive toward prior restraints and decline to adopt it. The federal approach offers only limited guidelines concerning gag orders such as that involved here, which restrict access to information by prohibiting individuals from discussing a case. Such orders should be treated like any other prior restraint.

Applying this test to the facts of this case, there can be no doubt but that the gag orders violated the Texas Constitution. The orders fail to identify any miscommunication that the trial court may have perceived, do not indicate any specific imminent harm to litigation and offer no explanation of why such harm could not be sufficiently cured by remedial action. For instance, had any miscommunication stemmed from improper statements by the relator, as implied by the court, the proper response may have been to sanction her conduct.

By stopping not only the purported miscommunications but any communications, the broadly worded injunction certainly fails the second part of our test. While a gag order may be expeditious in producing a settlement, decisions to terminate litigation based on lack of information can facilitate injustice. We conclude today, as we did over seventy years ago in Ex parte Tucker, 220 SW 75 (Texas SupCt 1920), that the judicially imposed gag orders in question are void.

Having found that the trial court's gag orders violate the Texas Constitution, this court need not consider whether the U.S. Constitution has also been violated. We reaffirm our pronouncement that our constitution has independent vitality, and this court has the power and duty to protect the additional-state guaranteed rights of all Texans. We decline

to limit the liberties of Texans to those found in the federal Constitution when this court is responsible for the preservation of Texas's own fundamental charter.

When a state court interprets its state constitution merely as a restatement of the federal Constitution, it both insults the dignity of the state charter and denies citizens the fullest protection of their rights.

While reflecting local concerns and assuring local accountability, reliance on our own constitution allows Texas to have a meaningful voice in developing this nation's jurisprudence. This court has a growing responsibility as one of fifty laboratories of democracy to assist the federal courts in shaping the fundamental constitutional fabric of our country.

Our rich history demonstrates a long-standing commitment in Texas to freedom of expression as well as a determination that state constitutional guarantees be given full meaning to protect our citizens. But historical analysis is only a starting point. The constitution of our state is an organic document. In no way must our understanding of its guarantees be frozen in the past; rather, our concept of freedom of expression continues to evolve over time.... Forms of expression not widely approved in 1875 may well demand state constitutional protection today, just as new methods of infringing on speech may require new methods of protection tomorrow.¹

In interpreting our constitution, the state's courts should be neither unduly active nor deferential; rather, they should be independent and thoughtful in considering the unique values, customs and traditions of our citizens. Texas should borrow from well-reasoned and persuasive federal precedents when this is deemed helpful, but should never feel compelled to parrot the federal judiciary. —Doggett, J.

Concurrence: Most of the court opinion is devoted to a defense of its new method of state constitutional analysis, which examines the state constitution first, and if a right is found to be protected, never reaches the federal constitutional question. The court derives this approach from developments in other jurisdictions and our own case law. Neither supports the court's new methodology. —Hecht, Cook and Cornyn, JJ.

STATE CONSTITUTIONS AND THE PROTECTION OF INDIVIDUAL RIGHTS¹

William J. Brennan, Jr.

Associate Justice, United States Supreme Court (Retired)

During the 1960's, as the Supreme Court expanded the measure of federal protection for individual rights, there was little need for litigants to rest their claims, or judges their decisions, on state constitutional grounds. In this Article, Mr. Justice Brennan argues that the trend of recent Supreme Court civil liberties decisions should prompt a reappraisal of that strategy. He particularly notes the numerous state courts which have already extended to their citizens, via state constitutions, greater protections than the Supreme Court has held are applicable under the federal Bill of Rights. Finally, he discusses, and applauds, the implications of this new state court activism for the structure of American federalism.

REACHING the biblical summit of three score and ten seems to be the occasion — or the excuse — for looking back. Forty-eight years ago I entered law school and forty-four years ago was admitted to the New Jersey Bar. In those days of innocence, the preoccupation of the profession, bench and bar, was with questions usually answered by application of state common law principles or state statutes. Any necessity to consult federal law was at best episodic. But those were also the grim days of the Depression, and its cure was dramatically to change the face of American law. The year 1933 witnessed the birth of a plethora of new federal laws and new federal agencies developing and enforcing those laws; ones that were to affect profoundly the daily lives of every person in the nation.

In my days at law school, Felix Frankfurter had taught administrative law in terms of the operations of the Interstate Commerce Commission — because that was the only major federal regulatory agency then existing. But then came in rapid succession the National Labor Relations Board, the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Civil Aeronautics Board, the Federal Communications Commission, the Federal Power Commission and a host of others. In addition, laws such as the Fair Labor Standards Act, administered by the Labor Department, also began to require practitioners to master new, and federal, fields of law in order to serve their clients. And, of course, those laws and agencies did not disappear with the end of the Depression — rather a procession of still more federal agencies and federal laws has followed. Only recently, for example, Congress created the Environmental Protection Agency and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission new major sources of concern for today's clients keeping lawyers everywhere very federal law-minded.

In the beginning of this legal revolution, however, federal law was not a major concern of state judges. Judicial involvement with decisions of the new federal agencies was the business of federal courts. I have tried to recall how often in my years on the New Jersey courts from 1949 to 1956 issues of federal law were relevant to cases tried before me as a trial judge in Paterson and Jersey City, or were addressed by me on the appellate division or in the supreme court. I can remember only three cases out of the hundreds with which I was involved over those years that turned on the resolution of a federal question, and in all three that question was statutory. Two were cases tried before me in Jersey City, one a railroad worker's suit under the Federal Employers Liability Act and the other a case that implicated the Immigration and Naturalization Act. Undoubtedly the reason they are still fresh in my memory is that I had frantically to dig up the federal statutes and federal cases that bore on their disposition because both presented federal questions of first impression in my experience. The third instance was a labor injunction case in which I first circulated an opinion to my brethren on the supreme court sustaining a chancery injunction against peaceful picketing, only to have to withdraw the opinion and set aside the injunction when the United States Supreme Court held that federal law preempted state regulation of such picketing.

In recent years, however, another variety of federal law that fundamental law protecting all of us from the use of governmental powers in ways inconsistent with American conceptions of human liberty - has dramatically altered the grist of the state courts. Over the past two decades, decisions of the Supreme Court of the United States have returned to the fundamental promises wrought by the blood of those who fought our War between the States, promises which were thereafter embodied in our fourteenth amendment — that the citizens of all our states are also and no less citizens of our United States, that this birthright guarantees our federal constitutional liberties against encroachment by governmental action at any level of our federal system, and that each of us is entitled to due process of law and the equal protection of the laws from our state governments no less than from our national one. Although courts do not today substitute their personal economic beliefs for the judgments of our democratically elected legislatures,2 Supreme Court decisions under the fourteenth amendment have significantly affected virtually every other area, civil and criminal, of state action. And while these decisions have been accompanied by the enforcement of federal rights by federal courts, they have significantly altered the work of

state court judges as well. This is both necessary and desirable under our federal system — state courts no less than federal are and ought to be the guardians of our liberties.

But the point I want to stress here is that state courts cannot rest when they have afforded their citizens the full protections of the federal Constitution. State constitutions, too, are a font of individual liberties, their protections often extending beyond those required by the Supreme Court's interpretation of federal law. The legal revolution which has brought federal law to the fore must not be allowed to inhibit the independent protective force of state law — for without it, the full realization of our liberties cannot be guaranteed.

The decisions of the Supreme Court enforcing the protections of the fourteenth amendment generally fall into one of three categories. The first concerns enforcement of the federal guarantee of equal protection of the laws. While the best known, of course, are Brown v. Board of Education³ and Baker v. Carr,4 perhaps even more the concern of state bench and bar in terms of state court litigation are decisions invalidating state legislative classifications that impermissibly impinge on the exercise of fundamental rights, such as the rights to vote,5 to travel interstate,6 or to bear or beget a child.7 Equally important are decisions that require exacting judicial scrutiny of classifications that operate to the peculiar disadvantage of politically powerless groups whose members have historically been subjected to purposeful discrimination — racial minorities8 and aliens9 are two examples.

The second category of decisions concerns the fourteenth amendment's guarantee against the deprivation of life, liberty or property where that deprivation is without due process of law. The root requirement of due process is that, except for some extraordinary situations, an individual be given an opportunity for a hearing before he is deprived of any significant "liberty" or "property" interest. Our decisions enforcing the guarantee of the due process clause have elaborated the essence of that "liberty" and "property" in light of conditions existing in contemporary society. For example, "property" has come to embrace such crucial expectations as a driver's license¹⁰ and the statutory entitlement to minimal economic support, in the form of welfare, of

those who by accident, birth or circumstance find themselves without the means of subsistence.11 The due process safeguard against arbitrary deprivation of these entitlements, as well as of more traditional forms of property, such as a workingman's wages12 and his continued possession and use of goods purchased under conditional sales contracts, 13 has been recognized as mandating prior notice and the opportunity to be heard. At the same time, conceptions of "liberty" have come to recognize the undeniable proposition that prisoners and parolees retain some vestiges of human dignity, so that prison regulations and parole procedures must provide some form of notice and hearing prior to confinement in solitary14 or the revocation of parole.15 Moreover, the concepts of liberty and property have combined in recognizing that under modern conditions tenured public employees may not have their reasonable expectation of continued employment, 16 and school children their right to a public education, 17 revoked without notice and opportunity to be heard.

I suppose, however, that it is mostly the third category of decisions by the United States Supreme Court during the last twenty years — those enforcing the specific guarantees of the Bill of Rights against encroachment by state action that has required the special consideration of state judges, particularly as those decisions affect the administration of the criminal justice system. After his retirement, Chief Justice Earl Warren was asked what he regarded to be the decision during his tenure that would have the greatest consequence for all Americans. His choice was Baker v. Carr. because he believed that if each of us has an equal vote, we are equally armed with the indispensable means to make our views felt. I feel at least as good a case can be made that the series of decisions binding the states to almost all of the restraints of the Bill of Rights will be even more significant in preserving and furthering the ideals we have fashioned for our society.

Before the fourteenth amendment was added to the Constitution, the Supreme Court held that the Bill of Rights did not restrict state, but only federal, action. ¹⁸ In the decades between 1868, when the fourteenth amendment was adopted, and 1897, the Court decided in case after case that the amendment did not apply various specific restraints in the Bill of Rights to state action. ¹⁹ The break-through came in 1897 when the prohibition against taking private property for public use without payment of just compensation was

³³⁴⁷ U.S. 483 (1954) (invalidating state laws requiring public schools to be racially segregated).

⁴³⁶⁹ U.S. 186 (1962) (invalidating state laws diluting individual voting rights by legislative malapportionments). See also Reynolds v. Sims, 377 U.S. 533 (1964).

⁵Harper v. Virginia State Bd., 383; U.S. 663 (1966).

⁶Shapiro v. Thompson, 394 U.S. 618 (1969).

Eisenstadt v. Baird, 405 U.S. 438 (1972); Griswold v. Connecticut 381 U.S. 479 (1965).

⁸Brown v. Board of Educ., 347 U.S. 483 (1954).

Sugarman v. Dougall, 413 U.S. 634 (1973); Graham v. Richardson, 403 U.S. 365 (1971).

¹⁰Bell v. Burson, 402 U.S. 535 (1971).

¹¹Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254 (1970).

¹²Sniadach v. Family Fin. Corp., 395 U.S. 337 (1969).

¹³Fuentes v. Shevin, 407 U.S. 67 (1972).

¹⁴Wolff v. McDonnell, 418 U.S. 539 (1974).

¹⁵Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471 (1972).

¹⁶Perry v. Sindermann, 408 U.S. 593 (1972).

¹⁷Goss v. Lopez, 419 U.S. 556 (1975).

¹⁸Barron v. Baltimore, 32 U.S. (7 Pet.) 243 (1833).

held embodied in the fourteenth amendment's proscription, "nor shall any state deprive any person of . . . property, without due process of law."²⁰ But extension of the rest of the specific restraints was slow in coming. It was 1925 before it was suggested that perhaps the restraints of the first amendment applied to state action.²¹ Then in 1949 the fourth amendment's prohibition of unreasonable searches and seizures was extended, ²² but the extension was made virtually meaningless because the states were left free to decide for themselves whether any effective means of enforcing the guarantee was to be made available. It was not until 1961 that the Court applied the exclusionary rule to state proceedings.²³

It was in the years from 1962 to 1969 that the face of the law changed. Those years witnessed the extension to the states of nine of the specifics of the Bill of Rights; decisions which have had a profound impact on American life, requiring the deep involvement of state courts in the application of federal law. The eighth amendment's prohibition of cruel and unusual punishment was applied to state action in 1962,24 and is the guarantee under which the death penalty as then administered was struck down in 1972.25 The provision of the sixth amendment that in all prosecutions the accused shall have the assistance of counsel was applied in 1963, and in consequence counsel must be provided in every courtroom of every state of this land to secure the rights of those accused of crime.26 In 1964, the fifth amendment privilege against compulsory self-incrimination was extended.27 And after decades of police coercion, by means ranging from torture to trickery, the privilege against selfincrimination became the basis of Miranda v. Arizona, requiring police to give warnings to a suspect before custodial interrogation.28

The year 1965 saw the extension of the sixth amendment right of an accused to be confronted by the witnesses against him;²⁹ in 1967 three more guarantees of the sixth amendment — the right to a speedy and public trial, the right to a trial by an impartial jury, and the right to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses — were extended.³⁰ In 1969 the double jeopardy clause of the fifth amendment was applied.³¹ Moreover, the decisions barring state-required prayers in public schools,³² limiting the availability of state

libel laws to public officials and public figures,³³ and confirming that a right of association is implicitly protected,³⁴ are significant restraints upon state action that resulted from the extension of the specifics of the first amendment.

These decisions over the past two decades gave full effect to the principle of *Boyd v. United States*,³⁵ the case Mr. Justice Brandeis hailed as "a case that will be remembered so long as civil liberty lives in the United States."³⁶ That principle, stated by Mr. Justice Bradley, was "...constitutional provisions for the security of person and property should be liberally construed....It is the duty of courts to be watchful for the constitutional rights of the citizen, and against any stealthy encroachments thereon."³⁷

The thread of this series of Bill of Rights holdings reflects a conclusion - arrived at only after a long series of decisions grappling with the pros and cons of the question — that there exists in modern America the necessity for protecting all of us from arbitrary action by governments more powerful and more pervasive than any in our ancestors' time. Only if the amendments are construed to preserve their fundamental policies will they ensure the maintenance of our constitutional structure of government for a free society. For the genius of our Constitution resides not in any static meaning that it had in a world that is dead and gone, but in the adaptability of its great principles to cope with the problems of a developing America. A principle to be vital must be of wider application than the mischief that gave it birth. Constitutions are not ephemeral documents, designed to meet passing occasions. The future is their care, and therefore, in their application, our contemplation cannot be only of what has been but of what may be.

Of late, however, more and more state courts are construing state constitutional counterparts of provisions of the Bill of Rights as guaranteeing citizens of their states even more protection than the federal provisions, even those identically phrased. This is surely an important and highly significant development for our constitutional jurisprudence and for our concept of federalism. I suppose it was only natural that

¹⁹See O'Neil v. Vermont, 144 U.S. 323, 332 (1892); McElvaine v. Brush, 142 U.S. 155, 158-159 (1891); In re Kemmler, 136 U.S. 436, 446 (1890); Presser v. Illinois, 116 U.S. 252, 263-68 (1886); Hurtado v. California, 110 U.S. 516 (1884); United States v. Cruikshank, 92 U.S. 542, 552-56 (1875); Walker v. Sauvinet, 92 U.S. 90 (1875).

²⁰Chicago B. & Q.R.R. v. Chicago, 166 U.S. 226, 241 (1897).

²¹Compare Gitlow v. New York, 268 U.S. 652, 666 (1925), with Prudential Ins. Co. v. Cheek, 259 U.S. 530, 543 (1922).

²²Wolf v. Colorado, 338 U.S. 25, 27-28 (1949).

²³Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961).

²⁴ Robinson v. California, 370 U.S. 660 (1962).

²⁵Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972). But see Gregg v. Georgia, 96 S. Ct. 2909 (1976); Proffitt v. Florida, 96 S. Ct. 2960 (1976); Jurek v. Texas, 96 S. Ct. 2950 (1976).

^{*}Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963); Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25 (1972)

²⁷Malloy v. Hogan, 378 U.S. 1 (1964).

²⁸ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

²⁹Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400 (1965).

³ºKlopfer v. North Carolina, 386 U.S. 213 (1967); Parker v. Gladden, 385 U.S. 363 (1966); Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14 (1967).

³¹ Benton v. Maryland, 395 U.S. 784 (1969).

³²School Dist. v. Schempp, 374 U.S. 203 (1963).

³³ New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254 (1964).

³⁷⁷ U.S. 288 (1964).

³⁵¹¹⁶ U.S. 616 (1886).

³⁶Olmstead v. United States, 277 U.S. 438, 474 (1928) (dissenting opinion). ³⁷116 U.S. at 635.

when during the 1960's our rights and liberties were in the process of becoming increasingly federalized, state courts saw no reason to consider what protections, if any, were secured by state constitutions. It is not easy to pinpoint why state courts are now beginning to emphasize the protections of their states' own bills of rights. It may not be wide of the mark, however, to suppose that these state courts discern, and disagree with, a trend in recent opinions of the United States Supreme Court to pull back from, or at least suspend for the time being, the enforcement of the *Boyd* principle with respect to application of the federal Bill of Rights and the restraints of the due process and equal protection clauses of the fourteenth amendment.

Under the equal protection clause, for example, the Court has found permissible laws that accord lesser protection to over half of the members of our society due to their susceptibility to the medical condition of pregnancy,³⁸ as well as laws that impose special burdens on those of our citizens who are of illegitimate birth.³⁹ The Court has also found uncompelling the claims of those barred from judicial forums due to their inability to pay access fees,⁴⁰ and has further handicapped the indigent by limiting their right to free trial transcripts when challenging the legality of their imprisonment.⁴¹

Under the due process clause, the Supreme Court has found no liberty interest in the reputation of an individual — never tried and never convicted — who is publicly branded as a criminal by the police without benefit of notice, let alone a hearing. The Court has recently indicated that tenured public employees might not be entitled to any more process before deprivation of their employment than the government sees fit to give them. It has approved the termination of payments to disabled individuals who are completely dependent upon those payments, prior to an oral hearing, a form of hearing statistically shown to result in a huge rate of reversals of preliminary administrative determinations. And it has veered from its promise to recognize that prisoners, too, have liberty interests that cannot be ignored.

The same trend is repeated in the category of the specific guarantees of the Bill of Rights. The Court has found the first amendment insufficiently flexible to guarantee access to essential public forums when in our evolving society those traditional forums are under private ownership in the form of suburban shopping centers;46 and at the same time has found the amendment's prohibitions insufficient to invalidate a system of restrictions on motion picture theaters based upon the content of their presentations.⁴⁷ It has found that the warrant requirement plainly appearing on the face of the fourth amendment does not require the police to obtain a warrant before arrest, however easy it might have been to get an arrest warrant.48 It has declined to read the fourth amendment to prohibit searches of an individual by police officers following a stop for a traffic violation, although there exists no probable cause to believe the individual has committed any other legal infraction.49 The Court has held permissible police searches grounded upon consent regardless of whether the consent was a knowing and intelligent one,50 and has found that none of us has a legitimate expectation of privacy in the contents of our bank records, thus permitting governmental seizure of those records without our knowledge or consent.⁵¹ Even when the Court has found searches to violate fourth amendment rights, it has - on occasion - declared exceptions to the exclusionary rule and allowed the use of such evidence.52

Moreover, the Court has held, contrary to Boyd v. United States, that we may not interpose the privilege against self-incrimination to bar government attempts to obtain our personal papers, no matter how private the nature of their contents.⁵³ And the privilege, said the Court, is not violated when statements unconstitutionally obtained from an individual are used for purposes of impeaching his testimony,⁵⁴ or securing his indictment by a grand jury.⁵⁵

The sixth amendment guarantee has fared no better. The guarantee of assistance of counsel has been held unavailable to an accused in custody when shuffled through preindictment identification procedures, no matter how essential counsel might be to the avoidance of prejudice to his rights

³⁸Geduldig v. Aiello, 417 U.S. 484 (1974); cf. General Electric Co. v. Gilbert, 45 U.S.L.W. 4031 (U.S. Dec. 7, 1976) (decided under Title VII).

So Compare Mathews v. Lucas, 96 S. Ct. 2755 (1976), with Weber v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 406 U.S. 164, 175 (1972) ("...imposing disabilities on the illegitimate child is contrary to the basic concept of our system that legal burdens should bear some relationship to individual responsibility or wrongdoing."). Recent decisions have also given rise to some doubt as to the Court's continuing commitment to the eradication of racial discrimination in employment and education. See Washington v. Davis, 96 S. Ct 2040 (1976); Pasadena City Bd. of Educ. v. Spangler, 96 S. Ct. 2697 (1976); Milliken v. Bradley, 418 U.S. 717 (1974).

^{**}Compare Ortwein v. Schwab, 410 U.S. 656 (1973), and United States v. Kras, 409 U.S. 434 (1973), with Boddie v. Connecticut, 401 U.S. 371 (1971).

⁴¹ United States v. MacCollom, 96 S. Ct. 2086 (1976).

⁴²Paul v. Davis, 424 U.S. 693 (1976).

Arnett v. Kennedy, 416 U.S. 134 (1974); Bishop v. Wood, 96 S. Ct. 2074 (1976).

⁴⁴ Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319 (1976).

⁴⁵Compare Meachum v. Fano, 96 S. Ct. 2532 (1976) (finding no liberty interest implicated in the transfer of a prisoner to a maximum security facility), with Wolff v. McDonnell, 418 U.S. 539 (1974).

⁴⁶Hudgens v. NLRB, 424 U.S. 507 (1976), overruling Food Employees Union Local 590 v. Logan Valley Plaza, Inc., 391 U.S. 308 (1968); Lloyd Corp. v. Tanner, 407 U.S. 551 (1972).

⁴⁷Compare Young v. American Mini-Theatres, Inc., 96 S. Ct. 2440 (1976), with Erznoznick v. City of Jacksonville, 422 U.S. 205 (1975).

⁴⁸United States v. Watson, 423 U.S. 411 (1976). See also United States v. Santana, 96 S. Ct. 2406 (1976) (holding that in a Watson-like situation, police may pursue a suspect into his or her home).

⁴⁰ United States v. Robinson, 414 U.S. 218 (1973); Gustafson v. Florida, 414 U.S. 260 (1973). The Court has also declined to read the amendment to prohibit warrantless searches of the glove compartments of automobiles impounded for mere parking violations. South Dakota v. Opperman, 96 S. Ct 3092 (1976).

⁵⁰United States v. Watson, 423 U.S. 411 (1976); Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (1973).

⁵¹ United States v. Miller, 96 S. Ct. 1619 (1976).

⁵² E.g., United States v. Janis, 96 S. Ct 3021 (1976).

SAndresen v. Maryland, 96 S. Ct. 2737 (1976); Fisher v. United States, 96 S. Ct. 1569 (1976). Harris v. New York, 401 U.S. 222 (1971).

⁵⁵United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338 (1974).

at later stages of the criminal process.⁵⁶ In addition, the Court has countenanced a state's placing significant burdens — in the form of a "two-tier" trial system — on the constitutional right to trial by jury in criminal cases.⁵⁷ And in the face of our requirement of proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, the Court has upheld the permissibility of less than unanimous jury verdicts of guilty.⁵⁸

Also, a series of decisions has shaped the doctrines of jurisdiction, justiciability, and remedy, so as increasingly to bar the federal courthouse door in the absence of showings probably impossible to make. ⁵⁹ At the same time, the Younger doctrine has been extended to allow state officials to block federal court protection of constitutional rights simply by answering a plaintiff's federal complaint with a state indictment. ⁶⁰ And the centuries-old remedy of habeas corpus was so circumscribed last Term as to weaken drastically its ability to safeguard individuals from invalid imprisonment. ⁶¹

It is true, of course, that there has been an increasing amount of litigation of all types filling the calendars of virtually every state and federal court. But a solution that shuts the courthouse door in the face of the litigant with a legitimate claim for relief, particularly a claim of deprivation of a constitutional right, seems to be not only the wrong tool but also a dangerous tool for solving the problem. The victims of the use of that tool are most often the litigants most in need of judicial protection of their rights — the poor, the underprivileged, the deprived minorities. The very lifeblood of courts is popular confidence that they mete out evenhanded justice and any discrimination that denies these groups access to the courts for resolution of their meritorious claims unnecessarily risks loss of that confidence.

Some state decisions have indeed suggested a connection between these recent decisions of the United States—Supreme Court and the state court's reliance on the state's bill of rights. For example, the California Supreme Court, in holding that statements taken from suspects before first giving them *Miranda* warnings are inadmissible in California courts to impeach an accused who testifies in his own defense, stated: "We...declare that [the decision to the con-

trary of the United States Supreme Court⁶²] is not persuasive authority in any state prosecution in California...We pause ...to reaffirm the independent nature of the California Constitution and our responsibility to separately define and protect the rights of California citizens despite conflicting decisions of the United States Supreme Court interpreting the federal Constitution."⁶³

Enlightenment comes also from the New Jersey Supreme Court. In 1973 the United States Supreme Court held that where the subject of a search was not in custody and the prosecution attempts to justify the search by showing the subject's consent, the prosecution need not prove that the subject knew he had a right to refuse to consent to the search.64 The Court expressly rejected the contention that the validity of consent to a noncustodial search should be tested by a waiver standard requiring the state to demonstrate that the individual consented to the search knowing he did not have to, and that he intentionally relinquished or abandoned that right. In State v. Johnson, 65 Mr. Justice Sullivan, writing for New Jersey's high court, first acknowledged that the United States Supreme Court decision was controlling on state courts in construing the fourth amendment and was therefore dispositive of the defendant's federal constitutional argument.66 But Mr. Justice Sullivan went on to consider whether the identically phrased provision of the New Jersey Constitution, Art. I, para. 7, "should be interpreted to give the individual greater protection than is provided by" the federal provision.67 Counsel had not made this argument either to the trial court or on appeal, but the supreme court, sua sponte, posed the issue and afforded counsel the opportunity for argument on the question. Mr. Justice Sullivan held for the court that, while Art. 1, para. 7 was in haec verba with the fourth amendment and until then had not been held to impose higher or different standards than the fourth amendment, "we have the right to construe our state constitutional provision in accordance with what we conceive to be its plain meaning."68 That meaning, he went on to hold, was "that under Art. 1, para. 7 of our State Constitution the validity of a consent to search, even in a non-custodial situation, must be measured in terms of waiver, i.e., where the state seeks to justify a search on the basis of consent it has the burden of showing that the consent was voluntary, an essential element of which is knowledge of the right to refuse consent.69

⁵⁶Compare Kirby v. Illinois, 406 U.S. 682 (1972), with United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218 (1967).

⁵⁷Ludwig v. Massachusetts, 96 S. Ct. 2781 (1976) (approving trial de novo system).

⁵⁸ Apodaca v. Oregon, 406 U.S. 404 (1972).

⁵⁹Rizzo v. Goode, 423 U.S. 362 (1976); Simon v. Eastern Ky. Welfare Rights Org., 96 S. Ct. 1917 (1976); Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490 (1975); O'Shea v. Littleton, 414 U.S. 488 (1974).

⁶⁰Hicks v. Miranda, 422 U.S. 332 (1975).

⁶¹Stone v. Powell, 96 S. Ct. 3037 (1976); Francis v. Henderson, 96 S. Ct. 1708 (1976).

⁶²Harris v. New York, 401 U.S. 222 (1971).

SePeople v. Disbrow, 16 Cal. 3d 101, 113, 114-15, 545 P.2d 272, 280, 127 Cal. Rptr. 360, 368 (1976). The Hawaii and Pennsylvania Supreme Courts have taken similar positions. See State v. Santiago, 53 Hawaii 254, 492 P.2d 657 (1971); Commonwealth v. Triplett, 341 A.2d 62 (Pa. 1975).

⁶⁴Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (1973).

⁶⁶⁸ N.J. 349, 346 A.2d 66 (1975).

⁶⁵ee Oregon v. Hass, 420 U.S. 714, 719 (1975).

⁶⁷⁶⁸ N.J. at 353, 346 A.2d at 67-68.

⁶⁸Id. at 353 n.2, 346 A.2d at 68 n.2.

⁶⁰Id. at 353-54, 346 A.2d at 68.

Among other instances of state courts similarly rejecting United States Supreme Court decisions as unpersuasive, the Hawaii⁷⁰ and California⁷¹ Supreme Courts have held that searches incident to lawful arrest are to be tested by a standard of reasonableness rather than automatically validated as incident to arrest;⁷² the Michigan Supreme Court has held that a suspect is entitled to the assistance of counsel at any pretrial lineup or photographic identification procedure;⁷³ and the South Dakota⁷⁴ and Maine⁷⁵ Supreme Courts have held that there is a right to trial by jury even for petty offenses.⁷⁶

Other examples abound where state courts have independently considered the merits of constitutional arguments and declined to follow opinions of the United States Supreme Court they find unconvincing, even where the state and federal constitutions are similarly or identically phrased. As the Supreme Court of Hawaii has observed, "while this results in a divergence of meaning between words which are the same in both federal and state constitutions, the system of federalism envisaged by the United States Constitution tolerates such divergence where the result is greater protection of individual rights under state law than under federal law...." Some state courts seem apparently even to be anticipating contrary rulings by the United States Supreme Court and are therefore resting decisions solely on state law grounds.

For example, the California Supreme Court held, as a matter of state constitutional law, that bank depositors have a sufficient expectation of privacy in their bank records to invalidate the voluntary disclosure of such records by a bank to the police without the knowledge or consent of the depositor; the reafter the United States Supreme Court ruled that federal law was to the contrary. 80

And of course state courts that rest their decisions wholly or even partly on state law need not apply federal principles of standing and justiciability that deny litigants access to the courts. Moreover, the state decisions not only cannot be overturned by, they indeed are not even reviewable by, the Supreme Court of the United States. We are utterly without jurisdiction to review such state decisions. This was precisely the circumstance of Mr. Justice Hall's now famous Mt. Laurel decision, which was grounded on the New Jersey Constitution and on state law. The review sought in that case in the United States Supreme Court was, therefore, completely precluded.

This pattern of state court decisions puts to rest the notion that state constitutional provisions were adopted to mirror the federal Bill of Rights. The lesson of history is otherwise: indeed, the drafters of the federal Bill of Rights drew upon corresponding provisions in the various state constitutions. Prior to the adoption of the federal Constitution, each of the rights eventually recognized in the federal Bill of Rights had previously been protected in one or more state constitutions.⁸³ And prior to the adoption of these state bills of rights, independently interpreted, were the primary restraints on state action since the federal Bill Of Rights had been held inapplicable.

The essential point I am making, of course, is not that the United States Supreme Court is necessarily wrong in its interpretation of the federal Constitution, or that ultimate constitutional truths invariably come prepackaged in the dissents, including my own, from decisions of the Court. It is simply that the decisions of the Court are not, and should not be, dispositive of questions regarding rights guaranteed

⁷⁰State v. Kaluna, 55 Hawaii 361, 520 P.2d 51 (1974).

⁷People v. Brisendine, 13 Cal. 3d 528, 531 P.2d 1099, 119 Cal. Rptr. 315 (1975).

⁷²Compare cases cited notes 69 & 70 supra, with United States v. Robinson, 414 U.S. 218 (1973).

⁷⁵Compare People v. Jackson, 391 Mich. 323, 217 N.W.2d 22 (1974), with United States v. Ash, 413 U.S. 300 (1973).

⁷⁴Parham v. Municipal Court, 199 N.W. 2d 501 (S.D. 1972).

⁷⁵State v. Sklar, 317 A.2d 160 (Me. 1974). See also Baker v. City of Fairbanks, 471 P.2d 386 (Alaska 1970).

^{**}Compare cases cited notes 73 and 74 supra with Baldwin v. New York, 399 U.S. 66 (1970), and Duncan v. Louisians, 391 U.S. 145 (1968).

⁷⁷For a listing of such examples, see the cases collected in the following articles: Falk, The Supreme Court of California 1971-1972, Foreword: The State Constitution: A More than "Adequate" Nonfederal Ground, 61 CALIF. L. REV. 273 (1973); Howard, State Courts and Constitutional Rights in the Day of the Burger Court, 62 VA. L. REV. 873 (1976); Wilkes, The New Federalism in Criminal Procedure: State Court Evasion of the Burger Court, 62 KY. L.J. 421, 437-43 (1974); Wilkes, More on the New Federalism in Criminal Procedure, 63 KY. L.J. 873 (1975); Project Report, Toward an Activist Role for State Bills of Rights, HARV. C.R.-C.L. L. REV. 271 (1973).

⁷⁸State v. Kaluna, 55 Hawaii 361, 369 n.6, 520 P.2d 51, 58 n.6 (1974).

Burrows v. Superior Court, 13 Cal. 3d 238, 529 P.2d 590, 118 Cal. Rptr. 166 (1974).

⁸⁰United States v. Miller, 96 S. Ct. 1619 (1976).

⁸³The Supreme Court's jurisdiction over state cases is limited to the correction of errors related solely to questions of federal law. It cannot review state court determinations of state law even when the case also involves federal issues. Murdock v. City of Memphis, 87 U.S. (20 Wall.) 590 (1875). Moreover, if a state ground is independent and adequate to support a judgment, the Court has no jurisdiction at all over the decision despite the presence of federal issues. Fox Film Corp. v. Muller, 296 U.S. 207 (1935); Murdock v. City of Memphis, 87 U.S. (20 Wall.) 590 (1875). One reason for the refusal to review such decisions, even where the state court also decides a federal question erroneously, was explained by Mr. Justice Jackson in Herb v. Pitcairn, 324 U.S. 117, 125-26 (1945):

Our only power over state judgments is to correct them to the extent that they incorrectly adjudge federal rights. And our power is to correct wrong judg-ments, not to revise opinions. We are not permitted to render an advisory opinion, and if the same judgment would be rendered by the state court after we corrected its views of federal laws, our review could amount to nothing more than an advisory opinion.

Southern Burlington County NAACP v. Township of Mt. Laurel, 67 N.J. 151, 336 A.2d 713 (invalidating town's exclusive zoning ordinance), appeal dismissed and cert denied, 423 U.S. 808 (1975).

See generally Brennan, The Bill of Rights and the States, in THE GREAT RICHTS (E. Cahn ed. 1963).

by counterpart provisions of state law.84 Accordingly, such decisions are not mechanically applicable to state law issues, and state court judges and the members of the bar seriously err if they so treat them. Rather, state court judges, and also practitioners, do well to scrutinize constitutional decisions by federal courts, for only if they are found to be logically persuasive and well-reasoned, paying due regard to precedent and the policies underlying specific constitutional guarantees, may they properly claim persuasive weight as guideposts when interpreting counterpart state guarantees. I suggest to the bar that, although in the past it might have been safe for counsel to raise only federal constitutional issues in state courts, plainly it would be most unwise these days not also to raise the state constitutional questions.

Every believer in our concept of federalism, and I am a devout believer, must salute this development in our state courts. Unfortunately, federalism has taken on a new meaning of late. In its name, many of the door-closing decisions described above have been rendered.85 Under the banner of the vague, undefined notions of equity, comity and federalism the Court has condoned both isolated and systematic 87 violations of civil liberties. Such decisions hardly bespeak a true concern for equity. Nor do they properly understand the nature of our federalism. Adopting the premise that state courts can be trusted to safeguard individual rights,88 the Supreme Court has gone on to limit the protective role of the federal judiciary. But in so doing, it has forgotten that one of the strengths of our federal system is that it provides a double source of protection for the rights of our citizens. Federalism is not served when the federal half of that protection is crippled.

Yet, the very premise of the cases that foreclose federal remedies constitutes a clear call to state courts to step into the breach. With the federal locus of our double protections weakened, our liberties cannot survive if the states betray the trust the Court has put in them. And if that trust is, for the Court, strong enough to override the risk that some states may not live up to it, how much more strongly should we trust state courts whose manifest purpose is to expand constitutional protections. With federal scrutiny diminished, state courts must respond by increasing their own.

Moreover, it is not only state-granted rights that state courts can safeguard. If the Supreme Court insists on limiting the content of due process to the rights created by state law, 89 state courts can breathe new life into the federal due process clause by interpreting their common law, statutes and constitutions to guarantee a "property" and "liberty" that even the federal courts must protect. Federalism need not be a mean-spirited doctrine that serves only to limit the scope of human liberty. Rather, it must necessarily be furthered significantly when state courts thrust themselves into a position of prominence in the struggle to protect the people of our nation from governmental intrusions on their freedoms.

We can confidently conjecture that James Madison, Father of the Bill of Rights, would have approved. We tend to forget that Madison proposed not ten, but, in the form the House sent them to the Senate, seventeen amendments. The House approved all seventeen including Number XIV — a number prophetic of things to come with the adoption of Amendment XIV seventy-nine years later - for Number XIV would have imposed specific restraints on the states. Number XIV provided: "No State shall infringe the right of trial by jury in criminal cases, nor the right of conscience, nor the freedom of speech or of the press."90 Madison, in a speech to the House in 1789, argued that these restrictions on the state power were "of equal, if not greater, importance than those already made"91 in the body of the Constitution. There was, he said, more danger of those powers being abused by state governments than by the government of the United States. Indeed, he said, he "conceived this to be the most valuable amendment in the whole list. If there were any reason to restrain the Government of the United States from infringing these essential rights, it was equally necessary that they should be secured against the State governments."92

But Number XIV was rejected by the Senate, and Madison's aim was not accomplished until adoption of Amendment XIV seventy-nine years later. The reason that Madison placed such store in the effectiveness of the Bill of Rights was his belief that "independent tribunals of justice will consider themselves in a peculiar manner the guardians of those rights." His reference was, of course, to his proposed Bill including Number XIV, but we may be confident that he would welcome the broadening by state courts of the reach of state constitutional counterparts beyond the federal model as proof of his conviction that independent tribunals of justice "will be naturally led to resist every encroachment upon rights expressly stipulated for...."

⁸⁴The Court has made this point clear on a number of occasions. See Oregon v. Hass, 420 U.S. 714, 719 (1975) ("...a State is free as a matter of its own law to impose greater restrictions on police activity than those this Court holds to be necessary upon federal constitutional standards"); Cooper v. California, 386 U.S. 58, 62 (1967).

as See Stone v. Powell, 96 S. Ct. 3037 (1976); Francis v. Henderson, 96 S. Ct. 1708 (1976); Hicks v. Miranda, 422 U.S. 332 (1975).

⁸⁶See Paul v. Davis, 424 U.S. 693 (1976); cases cited note 84 supra.

⁸⁷See Rizzo v. Goode, 423 U.S. 362 (1976); O'Shea v. Littleton, 414 U.S. 488 (1974).

^{**}See Stone v. Powell, 96 S. Ct. 3037, 3051 n.35 (1976); Doran v. Salem Inn, Inc., 422 U.S. 922, 930 (1975).

⁸⁰ See p. 496 & notes 41-42 supra.

See E. DUMBAULD, THE BILL OF RIGHTS 215 (1957); Brennan, supra note 82, at 69-70.

⁹¹ Annals Of Cong. 440 (Gales & Seaton eds. 1789).

²¹d. at 755. See Brennan, supra note 82, at 69-70.

Annals Of Cong. 439 (Gales & Seaton eds. 1789). See United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 330, 356-57 (1974) (Brennan, J., dissenting).

⁹⁴¹ Annals Of Cong. 439 (Gales & Seaton eds. 1789).

PARTICIPANTS

Paper Writers and Commentators

Professor Akhil Reed Amar has taught at Yale Law School since 1985. Professor Amar's areas of study include constitutional law, federal jurisdiction, American legal history and administrative law.

Professor Paul W. Kahn has taught at Yale Law School since 1985. He has written extensively in the areas of constitutional law and international law. He was clerk to U.S. Supreme Court Justice Byron R. White, 1980–82; legal consultant to the Constitutional Commission of Liberia, 1982–83; and a member of the Nicaraguan Legal Team at the International Court of Justice, 1983–85. He has also held consultancies in a number of Supreme Court cases. His forthcoming book is entitled *The End of Constitutional Theory*.

Honorable Lloyd Doggett was elected to the Texas Supreme Court in November 1988, after serving in the Texas State Senate for eleven years and practicing law in Austin for seventeen years. Since serving on the Supreme Court, Justice Doggett has been honored by both The Freedom of Information Foundation of Texas and the National Society of Professional Journalists for his commitment to open government.

Honorable Denise R. Johnson has served on the Vermont Supreme Court since 1990. From 1988 to 1990 she was in private practice while serving as Chair of the Vermont Human Rights Commission. From 1980 to 1988 she was Assistant Attorney General for Vermont, where she held positions as Chief of both the Civil Rights Division and the Public Protection Division. She has also taught law at the University of Vermont.

Moderators

Richard A. Bieder, Esq., is a fellow of The Roscoe Pound Foundation, a member of the Association of Trial Lawyers of America and a practicing attorney in the Bridgeport, Connecticut, law firm of Koskoff, Koskoff & Bieder.

Robert L. Habush, Esq., is former president of both The Roscoe Pound Foundation (1990–92) and the Association of Trial Lawyers of America (1986–87). He practices law at the Milwaukee, Wisconsin, law firm of Habush, Habush & Davis.

Peter Perlman, Esq., is former president of the Association of Trial Lawyers of America (1985–86) and a trustee of The Roscoe Pound Foundation. He practices law in Lexington, Kentucky, at Peter Perlman Law Offices.

Leonard M. Ring, Esq., is a trustee of The Roscoe Pound Foundation, and a former president of the Association of Trial Lawyers of America (1973–74). He practices law in Chicago, Illinois, at the firm of Leonard M. Ring and Associates.

David S. Shrager, Esq., is former president of both The Roscoe Pound Foundation (1986-88) and the Association of Trial Lawyers of America (1983-84). He currently practices law in the Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, firm of Shrager, McDaid, Loftus, Flum and Spivey.

Larry S. Stewart, Esq., is a fellow of The Roscoe Pound Foundation and a member of the Association of Trial Lawyers of America. He practices law in the Miami, Florida, law firm of Stewart, Tilghman, Fox and Bianchi.

JUDICIAL ATTENDEES

Alabama

Honorable Gorman Houston,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Kenneth F. Ingram,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable H. Mark Kennedy,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Janie L. Shores,
Justice of the Supreme Court

Alaska

Honorable Alexander O. Bryner, Chief Judge, Court of Appeals

Arizona

Honorable James Moeller, Justice of the Supreme Court

Arkansas

Honorable Don Corbin, Justice of the Supreme Court

California

Honorable Armand Arabian,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Stanley Mosk,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Robert K. Puglia,
Presiding Justice, Court of Appeals,
Third Appellate District

Colorado

Honorable Mary J. Mullarkey, Justice of the Supreme Court

Connecticut

Honorable David M. Borden,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Albert Cretella,
Judge, Appellate Court
Honorable Antoinette L. Dupont,
Chief Judge, Appellate Court

District of Columbia

Honorable Geoffrey M. Alprin,
Presiding Judge, Family Division, Superior Court
Honorable Sylvia Bacon,
Associate Judge (retired), Superior Court
Honorable Eugene N. Hamilton,
Associate Judge, Superior Court

Florida

Honorable Hugh Glickstein,
Chief Judge, District Court of Appeal, Fourth
District
Honorable Jack R. Schoonover,
Judge, District Court of Appeal, Second District

Georgia

Honorable Robert Benham, Justice of the Supreme Court

Hawaii

Honorable James S. Burns,
Chief Judge, Intermediate Court of Appeals
Honorable Stephen Levinson,
Justice of the Supreme Court

Idaho

Honorable Jesse R. Walters, Jr., Chief Judge, Court of Appeals

Illinois

Honorable Tobias Barry,
Presiding Justice, Appellate Court, Third District
Honorable Calvin C. Campbell,
Justice, Appellate Court,
First District, First Division
Honorable Gino L. DiVito,
Justice, Appellate Court,
First District, Second Division
Honorable Michael P. McCusky,
Appellate Court, Third District
Honorable Mary Ann G. McMorrow,
Presiding Justice, Appellate Court,
First District, 4th Division
Honorable Jill K. McNulty,
Justice, Appellate Court

Indiana

Honorable Brent E. Dickson,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Vivian Sue Shields,
Presiding Judge, Court of Appeals,
Second District

lowa

Honorable Jerry L. Larson,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Louis A. Lavorato,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Leo Oxberger,
Chief Judge, Court of Appeals

Kansas

Honorable Harold S. Herd,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Tyler C. Lockett,
Justice of the Supreme Court

Kentucky

Honorable Joseph E. Lambert,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Charles Leibson,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Thomas B. Spain,
Justice of the Supreme Court

Louisiana

Honorable Harry T. Lemmon,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Mary Ann Vial Lemmon,
Judge, 29th Judicial District Court
Honorable Charles A. Marvin,
Chief Judge, Court of Appeals,
Second Circuit

Maine

Honorable Robert W. Clifford,
Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court
Honorable Caroline D. Glassman,
Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court

Maryland

Honorable Howard S. Chasanow,
Judge, Court of Appeals
Honorable Alan W. Wilner,
Chief Judge, Court of Special Appeals

Michigan

Honorable James H. Brickley,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Conrad L. Mallett, Jr.,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable William B. Murphy,
Judge of the Court of Appeals

Minnesota

Honorable M. Jeanne Coyne,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Sandra S. Gardebring,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Esther M. Tomljanovich,
Justice of the Supreme Court

Mississippi

Honorable Fred L. Banks, Jr.,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Robert Gibbs,
Circuit Judge
Honorable James Graves,
Circuit Judge
Honorable C. R. McRae,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Edwin Lloyd Pittman,
Justice of the Supreme Court

Missouri

Honorable Kent E. Karohl, Chief Judge, Court of Appeals, Eastern District Honorable Edward D. Robertson, Jr., Chief Justice of the Supreme Court

Montana

Honorable Karla M. Gray, Justice of the Supreme Court Honorable John C. Harrison, Justice of the Supreme Court

Nebraska

Honorable D. Nick Caporale,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable C. Thomas White,
Justice of the Supreme Court

Nevada

Honorable Robert E. Rose,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Charles E. Springer,
Justice of the Supreme Court

New Hampshire

Honorable William F. Batchelder, Senior Associate Justice of the Supreme Court

New Mexico

Honorable Gene E. Franchini, Justice of the Supreme Court Honorable Stanley F. Frost, Justice of the Supreme Court

New York

Honorable Stewart F. Hancock, Jr.,
Judge of the Court of Appeals
Honorable M. Dolores Denman,
Presiding Justice,
Appellate Division/Supreme Court,
4th Department

North Carolina

Honorable Henry E. Frye,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable John Webb,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Willis P. Whichard,
Justice of the Supreme Court

Ohio

Honorable Herbert R. Brown,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Rupert A. Doan,
Presiding Judge, Court of Appeals, First District
Honorable Mike Fain,
Presiding Judge, Court of Appeals,
Second District
Honorable Donald R. Ford,
Presiding Judge, Court of Appeals,
11th District
Honorable Alice Robie Resnick,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Melvin L. Resnick,
Judge, Sixth District Court of Appeals

Oregon

Honorable George M. Joseph, Chief Judge, Court of Appeals Honorable Richard L. Unis, Justice of the Supreme Court

Pennsylvania

Honorable David W. Craig,
President Judge, Commonwealth Court
Honorable Nicholas P. Papadakos,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable James E. Rowley,
President Judge, Superior Court

Rhode Island

Honorable Florence K. Murray, Justice of the Supreme Court

South Carolina

Honorable Ernest A. Finney, Jr., Justice of the Supreme Court Honorable Jean H. Toal, Justice of the Supreme Court

Tennessee

Honorable Frank F. Drowota, Justice of the Supreme Court

Texas

Honorable Jimmy Carroll,
Chief Justice, Court of Appeals,
Third District
Honorable William J. Cornelius,
Chief Justice, Court of Appeals
Honorable Lloyd Doggett,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Mack Kidd,
Justice, Court of Appeals
Honorable Paul W. Nye,
Chief Justice, Court of Appeals,
13th District

Utah

Honorable Christine M. Durham,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Richard C. Howe,
Associate Chief Justice of the Supreme Court

Vermont

Honorable Ernest W. Gibson III,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Denise R. Johnson,
Justice of the Supreme Court
Honorable Stephen B. Martin,
Administrative Judge for Trial Courts,
Superior Court
Honorable James L. Morse,
Justice of the Supreme Court

Washington

Honorable Gerry L. Alexander, Judge, Court of Appeals, Division Two

West Virginia

Honorable Larry V. Starcher, Chief Judge, Circuit Court, Seventeenth Judicial Circuit Honorable Booker T. Stephens, Chief Judge, Circuit Court, Eight Judicial Circuit

Wisconsin

Honorable William Eich,
Chief Judge, Court of Appeals
Honorable Paul C. Gartzke,
Presiding Judge, Court of Appeals,
District IV
Honorable Neal Nettesheim,
Presiding Judge, Court of Appeals

Wvomina

Honorable Richard V. Thomas,
Justice of the Supreme Court of Wyoming

FORUM UNDERWRITERS

Counsellor

James H. Ackerman Robert L. Habush James R. Moriarty

Barrister

Belli, Belli, Brown, Monzione, Fabbro & Zakaria Pamela Anagnos Liapakis Edward M. Swartz

Defender

Linda Atkinson Scott Baldwin Begam, Lewis, Marks, Wolfe & Dasse Branch Law Firm Cartwright, Slobodin, Bokelman, Borowsky, Wartnick, Moore & Harris, Inc.

Robert A. Clifford Michael F. Colley Roxanne Barton Conlin Philip H. Corboy Anthony W. Cunningham

Philip M. Damashek Paul Dué

Esdaile, Barrett & Esdaile & Mone Abraham Fuchsberg

Jacob Fuchsberg Michael J. Galligan **Bob Gibbins**

Russ Herman John D. Liber and Spangenberg,

Shibley, Traci & Lancione Michael Maher

Thomas Wm. Malone Robert E. Manchester _

Eugene I. Pavalon Peter Perlman

Power Rogers Lavin Law Offices

Leonard M. Ring Michael X. St. Martin David S. Shrager

William E. Snead, Attorney at Law, Albuquerque, N.M.

Spangenberg, Shibley, Traci & Lancione

Howard A. Specter Richard L. Steinberg Larry S. Stewart

Daniel F. Sullivan Betty A. Thompson Bill Thorp Howard F. Twiggs Bill and Ruth Whetstone Wagner Williams & Troutwine (Portland, Ore.)

Advocate

Allen, Allen, Allen & Allen

Elise Alpert, R.N. Jere Locke Beasley G. David Brumfield William F. Conour Howard A. Davis Tom H. Davis

George J. Duffy, Esq.

Richard S. Fleisher of Karlin & Fleisher

Alan Fuchsberg Tomie T. Green David M. Harney

Hill, Peterson, Carper, Bee & Deitzler

Bill Hoppe Winston L. Kidd Gregory S. Kitterman Elmo E. Koos, Sr.

Koskoff, Koskoff & Bieder, P.C.

Hansford C. Mann and Mann, Chaney, Johnson, Goodwin & Williams

Jerome Mirza

Nixon, Hall & Hess, P.A., Manchester, N.H. Nurenberg, Plevin, Heller & McCarthy by M.I.

Nurenberg Joseph P. O'Donnell Jack H. Olender, Esq.

Nat P. Ozmun (Anesi, Ozmon & Rodin, Ltd.)

Roger Pardieck Frank Pozzi

Monty L. Preiser; Frederick D. Fahrenz; Preiser, Tabor, Lindsay, Coltelli

Shamberg, Johnson, Bergman & Morris, Chartered

Techmeier & Lowe Lanny S. Vines John L. Walker William Walker, Jr. Wilson, Frame & Metheney

Supporter

Allen A. Bailey

Bartimus, Kavanaugh, Mallory & Frickleton, P.C.

Bert Bauman

Gerald J. Bloch

Patricia C. Bobb

L. B. Chandler, Jr.

George W. Curtis

Merrick R. Domnitz

Jeffrey M. Goldberg

Milton Heller

Lembhard G. Howell

David Painter

George T. Sinas and Barry D. Boughton

of Sinas, Dramis, Brake, Boughton,

McIntyre & Reisig, P.C., Lansing, Mich.

Russ Smith

Paul Stritmatter

Robert C. Strodel

Tom Turnipseed

Wilson, Engstrom, Corum & Dudley

Friend

Rodney M. Arthur

H. David Blair

Breit, Drescher & Breit

Gregory S. Cusimano

Mark S. Davis

Robert Jacobs

Susan E. Loggans

Thomas F. Londrigan; Londrigan,

Potter & Randle, P.C.

James A. Lowe

Bruce McMath

Lee Norwind

Samuel A. Perroni

David A. Saichek

Saladino Law Firm

Steven H. Schafer, Boston, Mass.

Edwin N. Weidman, Esq.

Donor

Judd Kidd

Melvin O. Nuss

George F. Stevens

Lewis V. Vafiades

Bernard Whetstone

State Trial Lawyer Associations

Arkansas Trial Lawyers Association

Georgia Civil Justice Foundation

Hawaii Academy of Plaintiffs' Attorneys

Indiana Trial Lawyers Association

Kentucky Academy of Trial Attorneys

Mahoning-Trumbell Counties' Academy of Trial Lawyers (Ohio)

Nebraska Trial Lawyers Association

Nevada Trial Lawyers Association

North Carolina Academy of Trial Lawyers

Oregon Trial Lawyers Association

Utah Trial Lawyers Association

Washington State Trial Lawyers Association

THE ROSCOE POUND FOUNDATION OFFICERS AND TRUSTEES

1991-1992

Officers

Robert L. Habush, President Russ M. Herman, Vice President Howard F. Twiggs, Treasurer James H. Ackerman, Secretary Eugene I. Pavalon, Immediate Past President

Trustees

Scott Baldwin
Robert G. Begam
Thomas E. Cargill, Jr.
Robert E. Cartwright, Jr.
Roxanne Barton Conlin
Anthony W. Cunningham
Bob Gibbins
Amy G. Langerman
Pamela Anagnos Liapakis
Michael Maher
Howard L. Nations
Peter Perlman
David S. Shrager
Bill Wagner

Honorary Trustees

Herbert H. Bennett

I. Joseph Berger

Michael F. Colley

Philip H. Corboy
Tom H. Davis
J. Newton Esdaile
Honorable Jacob D. Fuchsberg
Richard F. Gerry
Samuel Langerman
Harry M. Philo
Stanley E. Preiser
Leonard M. Ring
Abner R. Sisson
Howard A. Specter
Betty A. Thompson
A. Ward Wagner, Jr.

1992-1993

Officers

Russ M. Herman, President
Roxanne Barton Conlin, Vice President
Michael Maher, Treasurer
James H. Ackerman, Secretary
Robert L. Habush, Immediate Past President

Trustees

Scott Baldwin
Robert G. Begam
Thomas E. Cargill, Jr.
Robert E. Cartwright, Jr.
Anthony W. Cunningham
Bob Gibbins
Amy G. Langerman
Pamela Anagnos Liapakis
Barry J. Nace
Howard L. Nations
Eugene I. Pavalon
Peter Perlman
Howard F. Twiggs
Bill Wagner

Honorary Trustees

I. Joseph Berger

Michael F. Colley

Philip H. Corboy
Tom H. Davis
J. Newton Esdaile
Honorable Jacob D. Fuchsberg
Richard F. Gerry
Roscoe B. Hogan
Samuel Langerman
Harry M. Philo
Stanley E. Preiser
Leonard M. Ring
David S. Shrager
Abner R. Sisson
Howard A. Specter
Betty A. Thompson
A. Ward Wagner, Jr.

Staff

Marcia Feldman, Executive Director Mary Petersen, Administrator Richard S. Jacobson, Consultant

WHAT IS THE ROSCOE POUND FOUNDATION?

The Roscoe Pound Foundation was established in 1956 by trial lawyers to honor and build upon the work of Roscoe Pound, Dean of the Harvard Law School from 1916-1936.

WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THE FOUNDATION?

The Foundation sponsors programs and publications that encourage open, ongoing discussion and debate among lawyers, academics, jurists and others on issues of social importance.

WHAT PROGRAMS DOES THE FOUNDATION SPONSOR?

Pound Roundtables

Private discussions among Fellows and other distinguished professionals bring a variety of views to bear on complex problems such as health care and the law and injury prevention in America.

Papers of The Roscoe Pound Foundation

Reports of the Foundation's programs on health care and the law, injury prevention in the American workplace, the safety of the blood supply and other topics are made available to jurists, academics, regulators, legislators, the media and other decision makers.

Chief Justice Earl Warren Conference on Advocacy

This pioneering conference, held from 1972 to 1989, confronted critical issues such as product safety, the jury in America and health care and the law and resulted in nationally distributed reports. The conference pioneered the exchanges among Fellows and other professionals which are continued today in the Roundtable series, the Judges Forum and other programs.

State Judges Forum

Judges from state Supreme Courts and Intermediate Appellate Courts come together with Pound Fellows to analyze issues of state constitutional law in a program cosponsored by Yale Law School.

Richard S. Jacobson Award for Excellence in Teaching Trial Advocacy

Each year an outstanding law professor receives this prestigious award.

Pound Foundation Grants to Legal Scholars

Grants for research on a variety of topics of concern to the trial bar are awarded by a jury of academics, jurists and lawyers.

Elaine Osborne Jacobson Award For Women Working in Health Care Law

Given each year to a woman law student who is committed to a career in health care law.

Roscoe Hogan Environmental Law Essay Contest

The Pound Foundation now administers this contest established in 1970 which annually honors a law student's writing ability in the area of environmental law.

THE ROSCOE POUND FOUNDATION PRESENTS Educational Materials

ON ADVOCACY 1980: The Penalty of Death (32B) \$25 Church, State and Politics (34B) \$25 1981: Ethics and Government (40B) \$25 1982: 1983: The Courts: Separation of Powers (39B) \$25 Product Safety in America (03B) \$25 1984: 1985: Dispute Resolution Devices in a \$25 Democratic Society (47B) The American Civil Jury (48B) \$25 1986: Medical Quality and the Law (01R) \$25 1989:

REPORTS OF THE CHIEF JUSTICE EARL WARREN CONFERENCE

PAPERS OF THE ROSCOE POUND FOUNDATION

Pound Foundation/Yale Law School State Court Judges Forum

Protecting Individual Rights: The Role of State Constitutionalism
Report of a July 1992 Forum in which more than 100 judges of the
state supreme and intermediate appellate courts, lawyers, and academics discussed the renewal of state constitutionalism on the issues of
privacy, search and seizure, and speech, among others. Also discussed was the role of the trial bar and academics in this renewal.

(08R) \$35

Injury Prevention in America

Report on 1990 Roundtables, written by Anne Grant, lawyer and former editor of Everyday Law and Trial magazines. Topics:

"Farm Safety in America"

"Industrial Safety: Preventing Injuries in the Workplace"

"Industrial Diseases in America"

(05R) \$20

Safety of the Blood Supply

Report on Spring, 1991 Roundtable, written by Robert E. Stein, a Washington, DC attorney and Adjunct Professor at Georgetown University Law Center. The report covers topics such as testing for the presence of HIV, and litigation involving blood products and blood banks.

(06R) \$20

Note:

Roscoe Pound Fellows receive all publications of The Roscoe Pound Foundation as a benefit of Fellowship.

PAPERS OF THE ROSCOE POUND FOUNDATION (CONT.):

Health Care and the Law

Report on Spring 1988 Roundtables, written by health policy specialist Michael E. Carbine. Topics:

"Hospitals and AIDS: The Legal Issues"

"Medicine, Liability and the Law: Expanding the Dialogue"

"Developing Flexible Dispute Resolution Mechanisms for the Health Care Field" (37B) \$20

Health Care and the Law II - Pound Fellows Forum

Report on 1988 Pound Fellows Forum, "Patients, Doctors, Lawyers and Juries," written by John Guinther, award-winning author of The Jury in America. The forum was held at ATLA's Annual Convention in Kansas City, and was moderated by Professor Arthur Miller of Harvard Law School. (35B) \$20

Health Care and the Law III

Report on 1988-1989 Roundtables, written by health policy specialist Michael E. Carbine. Topics:

"Drugs, Medical Devices and Risk: Recommendations for an Ongoing Dialogue"

"Health Care Providers and the New Questions of Life and Death"

"Medical Providers and the New Era of Assessment and Accountability" (02R) \$20

Demystifying Punitive Damages in Products Liability Cases:

A Survey of a Quarter Century of Trial Verdicts

This landmark study, written by Professor Michael Rustad of Suffolk
University Law School with a grant from The Roscoe Pound
Foundation, traces the pattern of punitive damage awards in US products cases. It tracks all traceable punitive damage verdicts in products liability litigation for the past quarter century, providing empirical data on the relationship between amounts awarded and those actually received.

(07R) \$22

The Jury in America

Award-winning author John Guinther presents a comprehensive history and analysis of the American jury system, confronting criticism of the present system with facts and statistics from a variety of sources. The book provides strong evidence for the viability of the American civil jury. Offered at 25% off the retail price.

(60B) \$30

Please send me the	e following product(s) fr	om The Roscoe Pound I	Foundation.		
	Quantity Tit	le	Code	Price	e Total
		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			
		·····			
■ ALL ORDERS MUST BE PREPAID ■ Postage/handling: \$3 first item; \$2 each additional item \$					
					Amount Due \$
		he Roscoe Pound Found			
	Please charge \$	to my	Amex	Visa	Master Card Exp
	Card#				
	Signature				
	Signature				
Name					
Address					
City		State	Zip A	rea/Telephone	
any			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		